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Chairman’s Statement
FE B

On behalf of the board (“Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of China
Chengtong Development Group Limited (“Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”), | hereby present to all shareholders the annual
report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022.

In 2022, in the face of the complex, severe and uncertain market
environment, the Group adhered to the main tone of “prioritise stability
while pursuing progress”, firmly upheld strategic direction, maintained
strategic focus, strictly prevented and controlled risks, and thus achieved a
stable operation.

During the year, the Group recorded a consolidated revenue of
approximately HK$1,277 million (2021: approximately HK$1,173 million),
representing an increase of approximately 9% as compared with that
of last year. Profit before tax recorded during the year amounted to
approximately HK$122 million (2021: approximately HK$170 million),
representing a decrease of approximately 28% as compared with that of
last year. The main reason for the year-on-year increase in consolidated
revenue was that the revenue from leasing business has steadily
increased, with a segment revenue of approximately HK$415 million,
representing an increase of approximately 32% as compared with that
of last year. The decrease in profit before tax was mainly due to the
following reasons: 1) the increase in costs of revenue of leasing business
led to a decrease in gross profit; 2) finance costs increased as compared
with that of last year; 3) the depreciation of Renminbi (“RMB") during the
year resulted in exchange loss; and 4) due to the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic, the marine recreation services and hotel business continued to
be sluggish and the performance was below expectation.

Currently, the Group is principally engaged in leasing, bulk commodity
trade, property development and investment, and marine recreation
services and hotel. For leasing, against the background of the declining
scale of the leasing industry and the frequent occurrence of risk incidents,
the Group continued to pull resources together to expand its core leasing
business. During the year, both the scale of leasing business and its
operating efficiency reached a record high, and the lease payments
from all projects were on schedule with no new overdue finance lease
receivables and loans receivable. The leasing business invested in a
total of 41 projects throughout the year and recorded segment results of
approximately HK$176 million. Segment assets amounted to approximately
HK$9.1 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 27%.
The finance lease receivables and loans receivable for the year amounted
to approximately HK$8.2 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 40%. The Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Chengtong
Financial Leasing Company Limited (“Chengtong Leasing”), continued
to step up its green product development and business investment.
During the year, the revenue from the green field accounted for more than
50% of the segment revenue of the leasing business, and Chengtong
Leasing was awarded the highest level deep green (G-AAA) certification
for green enterprises. During the year, Chengtong Leasing successfully
completed the issuance of the first phase of approximately RMB1.4 billion
among the RMB5 billion shelf asset-backed securities (“ABS") known as
"Phase One of Chengtong Leasing State-owned Enterprise ABS"” at an
overall average cost of 2.95%, which set the lowest interest rate level
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for financing in the capital market by the Group. By continuing to expand
its bank financing channels, Chengtong Leasing has obtained credit
facilities of approximately RMB7.6 billion from 25 banks at present, and
for the first time obtained credit facilities from major state-owned banks
such as Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited, Bank of China
and China Construction Bank Corporation, which effectively secured the
availability of business funds. Chengtong Leasing also optimised and
improved the governance structure and promoted digital transformation.
As for bulk commodity trade, Chengtong World Trade Limited continued
to strengthen risk prevention and achieved a stable operation. For property
development and investment, the Group had completed the construction
works on all land parcels during the year, and is making every effort to
promote the destocking of the property units of section 3 of Phase Il of
the CCT-Champs-Elysees project, and intensifying the withdrawal from
the business. In respect of marine recreation services and hotel, the
Group’s operating companies at Hainan Province have recorded losses
for three consecutive years due to the adverse impact posed by the
COVID-19 pandemic. Going forward, the Group will actively promote the
restructuring of the business of marine recreation services and hotel.

Looking ahead, the Group will further leverage the resource advantages
of its controlling shareholder to expand and strengthen its core leasing
business, and increase its effort in the divestment and exit from other
businesses. At the same time, the Group will continue to enhance risk
prevention and create greater value for its shareholders.

At last, |, on behalf of the Board, would like to express my sincere
gratitude to all shareholders, business partners and communities for their
continuous support and care to the Group. | would also like to thank all the
management and employees of the Group for their hard work during the
year.

Zhang Bin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 8 March 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis
TEEHEWMAS W

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The Group is principally engaged in leasing, bulk commodity trade,
property development and investment, and marine recreation
services and hotel businesses. In particular, the Group has been
focusing on the development and expansion of leasing business in
the People’s Republic of China ("PRC") since 2019. In 2022, the
Group continued to exert efforts to promote the leasing business
and achieved consecutive growth, and the CAGR (compound annual
growth rate) of the leasing revenue was approximately 77% during
the years from 2019 to 2022.

The growth in leasing revenue was encouraging and symbolic as the
impact of COVID-19 pandemic shocks, geopolitics disruptions, high
inflation, rising interest rates of US dollars etc. continued to prevail
in 2022 and the PRC economy faced unprecedented challenges. The
other business segments showed quite static aggregated results in
2022 amidst the mix of challenges.

Group Performance

The consolidated revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022
("FY2022") was approximately HK$1,277.39 million, representing
an increase of approximately 9% as compared to the year ended 31
December 2021 (“FY2021"). The segmental revenue was analysed
as follows:
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and hotel 14,017 22,380 (37%)
1,277,390 1,172,679 9%
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Management Discussion and Analysis

14,017
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2022

761,745 '\/

Bulk commodity

87,050

Property
development

trade . Leasing and Investment
ArREARES HE MEBRRIZE

As the Group's key business segment, the scale of the leasing
business was further expanded and forged ahead in FY2022,
resulted in a boost of the leasing revenue and accounted for a
approximately 32% of the total revenue (FY2021: approximately
27%) and approximately 32% increase from last year. The revenue
from bulk commodity trade dropped in the first half of FY2022
but recovered in the second half due to the global recovery of
the international trade activities. The annual revenue from bulk
commodity trade increased by approximately 1% from FY2021
and attributed to approximately 60% of the total revenue (FY2021:
approximately 64%). The other business segments accounted for
approximately 8% (FY2021: approximately 9%) of the total revenue.
During FY2022, the property market in the PRC was weak and the
marine recreation services and hotel business performance was still
stagnant by virtue of the impacts on tourism resulting from various
COVID-19 preventive measures and travel restrictions in the PRC.

The Group reported a consolidated gross profit of approximately
HK$252.35 million for FY2022, which represented a decrease of
approximately HK$19.96 million from approximately HK$272.31
million for FY2021. During FY2022, the Group recorded a
consolidated profit before tax of about HK$122.23 million,
representing a decrease of roughly HK$47.58 million or 28% from
approximately HK$169.81 million in FY2021, which was mainly the
net effect of the following:

(i) a decrease in consolidated gross profit which was mainly
attributable to the higher costs of revenue resulting from the
increased interest expenses of bank loans and ABS as a result
of the enlarged leasing business scale;

(i) an increase in administrative expenses of approximately
HK$13.00 million which was mainly attributable to the increase
in staff costs of the professional team for the expanding
leasing operation and the exchange loss brought by the
depreciation of RMB exchange rate against Hong Kong dollars
("HKD") during FY2022;
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Management Discussion and Analysis
TEEHEWMAS W

(iii)

(iv)

(Vi)

an increase in finance costs of approximately HK$9.20 million
from bank and other borrowings on the back of hiking interest
rates in Hong Kong;

a decrease in other income and gains of approximately
HK$4.26 million during FY2022;

a saving of selling expenses of approximately HK$3.42 million
during FY2022; and

an increase in fair value loss on investment properties of
approximately HK$4.58 million due to the general decrease in
property valuation in the PRC.

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK0.39 cent per ordinary share in respect of FY2022 to
the shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company on Friday, 7 July 2023, subject to the approval of
the shareholders on the payment of final dividend at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company. The final dividend is
expected to be paid on Friday, 21 July 2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A.

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

HREBME - RITREMEED
BMERAIEINAE L9208 T

%zizzig;EMWA&WE

WA RE 4268 TT

RIE-_—_FEMEHEEEROE
¥34287T &

REYE N EEBIE NGB K458
BT DHRPBEMEGEEER
DETEL -

EESCHARERRNR T __FEN
AR B EREBIR0.IVEM TR _EZ
=FtAER(EHR)BIARFRRE
AR » HEASBRRN AR A EREBR
BEASHEBBINRBAKRE  HAE
T ABREFEHHIN _E_=FLA-
T—REHR)IKRN -

Z. ¥¥EOE

Segmental Performance A. DERXRHE
The Group operated and derived its revenue from four REBKLENIED EERIL NP E
business segments, including leasing, bulk commodity trade, Blems - B8 RFEAnE
property development and investment, marine recreation 5 MEERERENUNRSE LRk
services and hotel. The details of segment revenue and results RISFVBEE - pfE = REEFE
were analysed as follows: DT :
(1) Leasing (1 #HE
Increase/
2022 2021 (decrease)
—m—— —E—— #hn, (s d)
HK$°000 HK$'000
BETFT BT T
Interest income FEUA 327,793 193,065 70%
Consultancy service fee RIS E B 54,763 86,648 (37%)
Rental income HA2BA 32,022 34,980 (8%)
Segment revenue SRR 414,578 314,693 32%
Costs of revenue g Pk A (200,565) (81,437) 146%
Gross profit EM 214,013 233,256 (8%)
Gross profit margin EFE 51.62% 74.12%
Segment results DEREE 176,315 197,270 (11%)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During the year, Chengtong Leasing continued to
expand the scale of its leasing business and its finance
lease receivables and loans receivable (collectively
"Leasing Receivables”) as at 31 December 2022 was
approximately HK$8,217.57 million, which represented
an increase of approximately 40% from that of last
year. Chengtong Leasing had signed 41 new leasing
projects of approximately HK$5.34 billion during the
year. In terms of industry segment, the majority of the
funds was applied as to: (i) about 32% to traditional
manufacturing industry; (i) about 23% to infrastructure
projects; (iii) about 20% to the logistics and warehousing
industry; and (iv) about 18% to energy conservation and
environmental protection related industry.

During the year under review, Chengtong Leasing
continued to pursue synergies with other state-owned
enterprises and signed new leasing arrangements
mostly with state-owned enterprises. In addition,
Chengtong Leasing continued to support green leasing
businesses, and has become a green enterprise since
passing the green enterprise certification assessment
with the highest level (G-AAA) in September 2022.

Leasing Revenue

The interest income from the leasing segment was
approximately HK$327.79 million during FY2022, which
represented an increase of approximately 70% year-on-
year. The interest income was derived from different
industry sectors as follows:
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84,0008 7T ° BITEMH M
T OREDEENERSE ()
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23%AEZEIEB  (ii1)#20%
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18% B2 Ei g MIRIRIBETTES
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2022 2021 Increase
=2-= T % 2 m

HK$000 HK$'000

BT T B FT

Energy conservation and gge MIRIR

environmental protection 101,908 64,656 58%
Logistics and warehousing ¥ & & 4 73,716 15,016 391%
Infrastructure Hig 60,452 46,088 31%
Manufacturing Bl 35,848 20,938 71%
Clean energy BREEIR 32,589 31,023 5%
Internet data centre BEREES O 6,085 4,786 27%
Others HAh, 17,195 10,558 63%
Total BEr 327,793 193,065 70%
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TEEHEWMAS W
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As for consultancy service, Chengtong Leasing obtained
17 new consultancy service projects in FY2022 and the
consultancy service fee income experienced a drop of
about 37% from FY2021 to approximately HK$54.76
million in FY2022. The main reason for the drop was that
some of the new leasing projects obtained in FY2022
were entered into with existing customers which
therefore did not engage Chengtong Leasing for further
consultancy service. Rental income from operating lease
arrangement remained stable during FY2022 and the
change was mainly due to the fluctuation of exchange
rate between RMB and HKD.

Costs of Leasing Revenue

The segmental costs of revenue consisted mainly of
interest expenses from bank and other borrowings,
guarantee fees and depreciation charges. The segmental
costs of revenue increased by approximately HK$119.13
million or 146% from FY2021 to approximately
HK$200.57 million for FY2022, primarily due to the
increase in the overall financing scale along with the
expansion of the leasing business. The following table
sets forth the breakdown of the costs of revenue of the
leasing segment:

ZERFEARE A - FREE
R-ZE-_—FEEBS17EHZ
HRISIER - HBAREBURA
BE - —FETNENIT%E
TE - FEMHNEES,476
BT TERMEZRAANR =
T _FERSNAETHHEE
HEDEBEREFEIY - At
VEZEHBHESRETZE
BRE -RIE_—FE &
EHRETHNEES AR F
B AREHTIEARARE
B ERA)FE) o

HE Wz A

DEHEERATETEBRERITR
EMEENERY - BRER
WEER R_ZE_—_FF -
PERARAR =T =_—F
FEIE A EEE1181,9138 Tk
146% E4) B 28578 T £
EHNERRERERERE
ERERMIE M - TRETHA
Eo MK AR

Increase/
2022 2021 (decrease)
—B-F T i,/ Cld)
HK$’000 HK$000
BT T BT T
Interest expenses FEMZ 155,771 58,103 168%
Guarantee fees ERE 19,664 = n/a
TiEA
Depreciation of leased HEEERE
assets 20,645 21,357 (3%)
Others HAh, 4,485 1,977 127%
Total HEt 200,565 81,437 146%
The Group financed its leasing operation mainly through AEBZTZFERRITEHEER

bank borrowings and issuance of ABS. Overall speaking,
the borrowing rates in the PRC were trending downward
in FY2022. The Group issued three ABS schemes in
May 2021, November 2021 and September 2022 and
the weighted average annual interest rates were 3.97%,
3.6% and 2.95% respectively while the effective annual
interest rates for bank borrowings (calculated as total
interest expenses divided by average outstanding
balance of bank loans) for FY2022 and FY2021 were
4.90% and 3.61% respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Guarantee fees were paid to the Company’s ultimate
holding company, China Chengtong Holdings Group
Limited (“"CCHG"), which undertakes the obligation
to pay the shortfall if the funds of the relevant ABS
schemes and Chengtong Leasing are insufficient to
settle the principal and other payable amounts for certain
priority tranches of the relevant ABS schemes. The
guarantee fees were determined at 0.8% per annum
on the outstanding balances of the guaranteed ABS
tranches.

No significant fluctuation for the depreciation charge of
leased assets was noted during the year.

Expenses

The operating expenses of the leasing segment
increased by approximately HK$10.12 million for FY2022
and was mainly attributable to additional staff costs
of the professional team for the expanding leasing
operation.

Segment Results

The segment results of the leasing business for the year
reduced by approximately HK$20.96 million or 11% to
approximately HK$176.32 million (FY2021: approximately
HK$197.27 million).

Leasing Receivables

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had approximately
HK$8,217.57 million of net Leasing Receivables, which
were significantly enlarged by approximately 40% from
approximately HK$5,865.11 million as at 31 December
2021, and represented approximately 82% of the total
assets (as at 31 December 2021: approximately 72%).
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The Group’s Leasing Receivables as at 31 December
2022 were classified into 5 categories according to
customers’ repayment abilities, up-to-date repayment
history, profitability and carrying values of underlying
leased assets, relevant security and enforcement
measures against customers, with Category | being
the lowest risk and Category V being the highest risk.
Specific expected credit loss (“ECL") provision was
provided for each category.

31 December 2022
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31 December 2021

ZE-ZE+ZAZ+-H —E--Ft-A=t+-H
Gross Net Gross Net
Leasing Provision Leasing Leasing Provision Leasing
Category L)l Receivables for ECL Receivables  Receivables for ECL  Receivables
HEREY AHEE HERY HEEN BHEE HEEN
RRRH BERE RRFH FUERE EiEEE FIERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT  BETT  E¥Tr BEFr B¥TT BFTx
|. Performing |IE® 8,163,655 2,829 8,160,826 5,805,648 2,372 5,803,276
II. Special Mention LB - - - - - -
I1l. Sub-standard LR 70,422 13,674 56,748 72,442 10,612 61,830
V. Doubtful V. AT & - - - - - -
V. Loss VEX - - - - - -
Total FEE 8,234,077 16,503 8,217,574 5,878,090 12,984 5,865,106

The Group has adopted stringent risk management
policies to monitor Leasing Receivables throughout
their business cycle, so as to ensure that the Group has
robust and prudent standards for credit risk exposure,
management and monitoring for all Leasing Receivables.
Most of the Group’'s customers were state-owned
enterprises and the non-performing exposures were
comparably low.
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Bulk Commodity Trade ARERES

Increase/
2022 2021 (decrease)
—E=-= —E-—fF #mn, Crid)

HK$°000 HK$°000

BT T BEFT
Segment revenue o 761,745 755,431 1%
Costs of revenue W P A (752,844) (749,124) 0.5%
Gross profit EA 8,901 6,307 41%

Gross profit margin EFE 1.17% 0.83%
Segment results DIREE 3,253 3,623 (10%)

During the year, the Group continued to carry out
its bulk commodity trade business solely through its
51%-owned joint venture company, Chengtong World
Trade Limited and focused on international trade of steel
and chemicals and tightened trade risk management
to strictly select upstream suppliers and downstream
customers. The business was negatively disrupted by
the COVID-19 pandemic during the first half of FY2022,
but as the COVID-19 pandemic was gradually contained
in the second half of FY2022, the international trade
regained momentum and the segment revenue for
FY2022 almost levelled off with that of last year and
there was a slight improvement in the overall gross
profit margin. The administrative expenses went up by
approximately HK$1.61 million and the finance costs
increased by approximately HK$0.46 million. The overall
segment results decreased slightly by approximately
HK$0.37 million year-on-year to approximately HK$3.25
million (FY2021: approximately HK$3.62 million).
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(3)

Property Development and Investment (3) YEBRERRE

2022 2021 Increase
=F== —F—%F k- pil

HK$’000 HK$000

BT T BT T
Property sales L ER S 84,262 78,410 7%
Rental income el A 2,788 1,765 58%
Segment revenue S 87,050 80,175 9%
Costs of revenue &N (57,970) (53,515) 8%
Gross profit EF 29,080 26,660 9%

Gross profit margin EFE 33.41% 33.25%
Segment results R 24,060 21,181 14%

The Group derived its revenue from this segment by
means of property sales and rental income. Revenue
from the property sales was entirely derived from the
CCT-Champs-Elysees project while the rental income
was generated from the leasing of the commercial
properties of the CCT-Champs-Elysees project and
certain office premises of the Group.

The CCT-Champs-Elysees project is wholly owned
by the Group and is located in the Zhucheng City of
Shandong Province of the PRC. The project had a total
site area of approximately 146,006 square metres and
was developed in three phases with all the construction
works completed in August 2022.

The property market in the PRC was sluggish during
FY2022. The property sales increased slightly by
approximately 7% to approximately HK$84.26 million
during the year. The average selling prices per square
metre of the residential area for FY2022 and FY2021
were stable at RMB5,416 and RMB5,395 respectively.
As at 31 December 2022, the completed and unsold
area of the CCT-Champs-Elysees project included
residential area of approximately 12,421 square metres
(as at 31 December 2021: approximately 25,171 square
metres) and commercial spaces of approximately 926
square metres (as at 31 December 2021: approximately
1,410 square metres). About 54,295 square metres
of the residential units in Section 3 of Phase 3 were
undergoing completion filings and were recorded as
property under development as at 31 December 2022.
The Group will actively pursue the sale of the rest of the
residential units in 2023.
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During FY2022, the rental income of approximately
HK$0.37 million (FY2021: approximately HK$0.28
million) and approximately HK$2.42 million (FY2021:
HK$1.26 million) was generated from the leasing of
the commercial properties of the CCT-Champs-Elysees
project and the leasing of certain office premises of the
Group respectively.

The segmental gross profit margin for FY2022 was
steady and similar as that of last year. During the
year under review, some commercial properties
of the CCT-Champs-Elysees project were sold and
income of HK$1.79 million (FY2021: HK$0.36 million)
was recognised. In order to promote the sale of the
project, selling expenses of approximately HK$3.16
million (FY2021: approximately HK$2.17 million) were
incurred during the year. No significant change in the
administrative expenses was noted for FY2022. The
overall segmental profit for FY2022 was approximately
HK$24.06 million and represented an increase of
approximately 14% from FY2021.
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Marine Recreation Services and Hotel (4) FLIRERBNGE
Increase/
2022 2021 (decrease)
—E=-= —E-—fF #an, Crid)
HK$’000 HK$000
BT T BT T
Marine recreation services /& _t iR #2 iR 7% 9,300 13,772 (32%)
Hotel operation BIE 27 4,047 6,599 (39%)
Travelling agency business R4t 27 670 2,009 (67 %)
Segment revenue DU 14,017 22,380 (37%)
Costs of revenue &N (13,665) (16,297) (16%)
Gross profit EF 352 6,083 (94%)
Gross profit margin EFE
— marine recreation -G LR
services (15%) 10%
~ hotel operation Y 33% 56%
- Travelling agency - IRTTH T
business 62% 47%
Segment results Pak (25,356) (22,717) 12%
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The Group operated its marine recreation services and
hotel business in Hainan Province, the PRC, which was
mainly consisted of: (i) marine recreation services; (ii)
hotel operation; and (iii) travelling agency business. As
the gloom of the COVID-19 pandemic lingered in 2022,
the domestic travel restrictions and stringent quarantine
policies were upheld in the PRC, which discouraged
tourists activities and made the segment’s operation
very difficult. Consequently, the segment revenue
deteriorated by approximately 37% compared with the
previous year. With reduced business activities, the
total segmental selling expenses therefore dropped
to approximately HK$8.84 million (FY2021: HK$13.50
million), while the total segmental administrative
expenses increased to approximately HK$18.04 million
for FY2022 (FY2021: HK$16.20 million) which was
mainly due to non-routine maintenance works to certain
vessels of the Group.

The combined segment results in FY2022 recorded
losses of HK$25.36 million, which increased by 12%
from that in last year (FY2021: Losses of HK$22.72
million).
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Other Income and Gains, net B. HitWARKEFE
Increase/
2022 2021 (decrease)
—E=-= B #n, Crd)
HK$’000 HK$000
BT T BT T
Interest income B U A 16,702 15,431 8%
Exchange gain, net b H I aF 58 = 9,927 (100%)
Gain on disposal of investment  HE&EWE 2 Wz
properties 1,786 360 396%
Government subsidies BT B 989 503 97%
Others Eih 5,352 2,867 87%
24,829 29,088 (15%)

In FY2022, the Group's other income and gains mainly
comprised of interest income of approximately HK$16.70
million (FY2021: approximately HK$15.43 million) from bank
deposits, other financial assets and loans to related parties.
During the year, the Group obtained value added tax credits of
approximately HK$3.02 million for the purchase of operating
lease assets.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

No exchange gain was reported during the year as the RMB
exchange rate against HKD depreciated for about 7% from
1.22 at the beginning of 2022 to 1.13 by the end of 2022.
There was no material change in Hong Kong onshore RMB-
denominated assets during the year under review.

The total other income and gains recorded in FY2022 was
therefore approximately HK$24.83 million, and represented a
drop of approximately 15% from last year.

THEARES N
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Selling and Administrative Expenses C. HERTHEHR
Increase/
2022 2021 (decrease)
—E-= —E-— #hn, )

HK$’000 HK$000

BT T BT T
Selling expenses HEER 12,528 15,943 (21%)
Administrative expenses 1THER 120,617 107,622 12%

During the year under review, selling expenses decreased
by approximately 21% to approximately HK$12.53 million
(FY2021: approximately HK$15.94 million), of which agency
commission expenses for promoting the sales of the CCT-
Champs-Elysees project increased by approximately HK$1.06
million but was offset by the decrease in (i) travelling expenses
of sales personnel of approximately HK$0.77 million, (ii)
maintenance cost of approximately HK$1.57 million for the
Group's marine recreation facilities and hotel operation, and (iii)
consumable supplies of approximately HK$0.58 million for the
Group's hotel operation.

The administrative expenses increased by approximately
HK$13.00 million or 12% year-on-year to approximately
HK$120.62 million (FY2021: approximately HK$107.62
million), which was mainly due to the increase of staff costs
of approximately HK$15.18 million and the recognition of
exchange loss of approximately HK$7.58 million. Such an
increase was partly offset by the reduction of office expenses
(including travelling, transportation, communications and fuel
expenses) of approximately HK$3.94 million and the reduction
of ECL charges during the year for approximately HK$7.23
million.

REEFAN  HEERRLH21%
BB 253BL(ZE=—FE
HABHE1,59487T) - B HEHEBE
EMBEEAMNREBEASEAENY
EH106B T - BR()VEEABNE
RERABEIIET « (IAEEE
B 0 BR B B JE B A HE R AR
BN BTE T R(INVAERBE &8
KO FE S 48 15588 JTHY AL 1B P 4K

THE RIRFI8 N4 5% 1,3008 T
H12% 24 EE1E2,0628 L (=F
——FE  H)BE1ET628 ) - £
ZRARE TR IMNLE%1,518
BT MERENFBHEKTIEE
T BRI MBLBERAZTER (R
FBER - R@E - BRI
BESUBE TR FRNTEREESEE
BB 7238 TR AT SH o

China Chengtong Development Group Limited FEIFEZEEEBR AT 17



Management Discussion and Analysis
TEEHEWMAS W

18

D.

Finance Costs D. ®ERK
Increase/
2022 2021 (decrease)
—F=-= —T-—fF #hn,/ Ci4)
HK$’000 HK$000
BETFT BT T
Total interest expense FEFAZ B 173,128 67,004 168%
Less: o
Amounts included in AR EAZ 8
costs of revenue (155,771) (58,103) 168%
Amounts capitalised on BRAMEERE
properties under 5
development (1,796) (2,540) (29%)
15,561 6,361 145%

The total interest expense in FY2022 amounted to
approximately HK$173.13 million (FY2021: approximately
HK$67.00 million), representing a significant year-on-year
increase of approximately 158%. The upsurge was mainly
attributable to the increase in the scale of the leasing business,
which leveraged mainly on external financing.

The total interest expense comprised principally interest
on ABS of approximately HK$89.72 million (FY2021:
approximately HK$41.72 million), interest on bank borrowings
of approximately HK$75.42 million (FY2021: approximately
HK$23.92 million), interest on loans from related parties
of approximately HK$7.77 million (FY2021: approximately
HK$1.11 million). After deducting the amount of approximately
HK$155.77 million (FY2021: approximately HK$58.10 million)
included in the costs of revenue and capitalising the amount
of approximately HK$1.80 million (FY2021: approximately
HK$2.54 million) on the properties under development, the
net finance costs for the year were approximately HK$15.56
million (FY2021: approximately HK$6.36 million), of which
approximately HK$12.40 million (FY2021: approximately
HK$5.00 million) was interest expense for bank loans in Hong
Kong, representing a year-on-year increase of approximately
148% which was mainly due to the rising borrowing interest
rates in Hong Kong during the year.
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OUTLOOK

Looking back on 2022, the impact caused by the continuous multi-
point spreading of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Ukraine crisis, high
inflation, and the interest rate hike by the US Federal Reserve has
exceeded expectations. The complexity, severity and uncertainty
faced by the economic development had increased significantly.
Meanwhile, the Chinese government achieved positive results in
the efficient coordination of pandemic prevention and control as
well as in socio-economic development, which stabilised the macro-
economy and achieved continuous expansion in the total economic
volume and steady improvement in the quality of development.
Stepping into 2023, as the US Federal Reserve's interest rate hike is
approaching to the end and with the normalisation of the pandemic
preventive controls and the intensive introduction of policies to
stabilise real estate and expand domestic demand, the mainland
economy has begun to recover gradually and comprehensively,
which is expected to bring new development opportunities.

Bounded by factors such as changes in industry regulations,
downward economic cycle, and intensified competition in the
industry, the number of entities in the financial leasing industry
and the balance of financial leasing businesses both declined in
2022. The development of the industry entered a critical period
of transformation and optimisation. Green transformation, digital
economy and equipment upgrading continued to grow and added
momentum to industry transformation. In the future, with the
upgrading of domestic industries, the recovery of macro-economy
and the gradual strengthening of the internal circle policies, coupled
with the business transformation of financial leasing companies
and the adjustment and adaptation of regulatory policies, it is
expected that the financial leasing industry will maintain a healthy
development and better contribute to the economic development
during the “14th Five-Year Plan"” period.

In such a complex and changing market situation, we see both
opportunities and challenges. The Group will firmly adhere to its
strategic direction, continue to focus on financial leasing as its main
responsibility and principal business, constantly optimise its asset
structure, work diligently and reorganise resources to create a new
stage of high-quality development in all aspects.
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In respect of financial leasing, Chengtong Leasing will continue
to enhance its cooperation with other state-owned enterprises,
promote its development in business areas such as energy
conservation and environmental protection, transportation and
logistics, internet data center, new energy, and highlight its industry
characteristics in these market segments. Chengtong Leasing
will further expand its financing channels, explore to develop
independent rating to strengthen self-financing capability, and
seek low-cost funds for business investment. Moreover, it will
strengthen risk prevention and control, as well as build and improve
the risk management system comprehensively. In respect of bulk
commodity trade, the Group will carefully examine the market
condition to determine the next step of development. In respect of
property development and investment, all the construction works
of the CCT-Champs-Elysees project have been completed. The next
step will be to speed up the sales of the property units in section
3 of Phase Ill of the CCT-Champs-Elysees project, and utilise the
recovered funds for the main business of financial leasing. In respect
of the marine recreation services and hotel business, the Group will
continue to optimise the project operation and management model
and accelerate the cultivation of internal impetus for market sales on
one hand, and will actively explore and promote subsequent asset
restructuring on the other hand.

The Group is the only overseas listed company platform under
CCHG, its ultimate controlling shareholder, and Chengtong Leasing
is the only controlling financial leasing company under the Group.
Chengtong Leasing will give full play to the resource advantages
of the controlling shareholder of the Group, focus its resources
on rapidly expanding the principal business of financial leasing
and create greater value for the shareholders. The Board is full of
confidence in the future development of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ASSET STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group continued to maintain a stable
and sound financial position, the equity attributable to owners of
the Company amounted to approximately HK$2,926.93 million and
represented a decrease of approximately 7% from approximately
HK$3,134.60 million recorded as at 31 December 2021 which was
mainly due to the depreciation of RMB during the year.

The total assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2022
showed significant increment from last year:
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Increase/
2022 2021 (decrease)
—E-= —E-—fF #hn, ()

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT T
Non-current assets ERBEE 5,789,251 4,367,594 33%
Current assets MBEE 4,220,484 3,800,212 1%
Total assets BEE 10,009,735 8,167,806 23%
Current liabilities mBAE (4,356,727) (3,238,608) 35%
Non-current liabilities e EIN=F (2,717,758) (1,787,496) 52%
Total liabilities BafE (7,074,485) (5,026,104) 41%
Total net assets wEEFE 2,935,250 3,141,702 (7%)

As at 31 December 2022, the total assets of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$10.01 billion, of which about 42% were current
assets, representing a rise of approximately 23% as compared to
the total assets of approximately HK$8.17 billion as at 31 December
2021. Leasing Receivables were the largest component of the
assets, being roughly 82% of the total assets. The reason was
largely due to the continuing growth in finance lease receivables
and loans receivable recorded under current and non-current assets
resulted from the swift expansion of the Group's leasing business
scale.

On the flip side, the Group increased its total liabilities to
approximately HK$7,074.49 million as at 31 December 2022 from
approximately HK$5,026.10 million as at 31 December 2021. The
Group obtained external financing by the issuance of ABS and bank
borrowings in the PRC to fund the growth of the leasing business.
The current and non-current portions of total liabilities were
approximately 62% and 38% respectively.
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The current ratio (calculated as total current assets divided by
total current liabilities) as at 31 December 2022 decreased to
approximately 0.97 time (2021: approximately 1.17 times) which
was mainly due to the fact that bank borrowings of approximately
HK$219.22 million (2021: approximately HK$332.89 million) (which
are not repayable within the next 12 months) were classified
as current liabilities in light of a repayment on demand clause.
Nevertheless, the Group had ample of standby credit facilities in
place and will set up relevant policies and procedures to actively
monitor the liquidity position.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had cash and deposits
(including pledged bank deposits, and bank balances and cash) of
approximately HK$534.56 million (2021: approximately HK$1,384.67
million), which were primarily denominated in RMB. Other cash and
deposits were denominated in HKD and the United States dollars
("USD"). The cash and deposits accounted for approximately 5%
(2021: approximately 17%) of the total assets.

As at 31 December 2022, the bank borrowings of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$3,167.01 million (2021:
approximately HK$1,441.78 million), represented a rise of
approximately 120% from last year. The Group has increased
both short-term and medium-term bank borrowings in the PRC to
finance the development of its growing leasing business. As at 31
December 2022, about HK$2,661.76 million or 84% of the Group's
total bank borrowings were denominated in RMB with repayment
due dates ranging from 2023 to 2026. The remaining balance of
approximately HK$505.25 million of the bank borrowings were
denominated in HKD and USD. The HKD bank loan is maturing in
June 2023 and the USD trade finance loan has matured in February
2023. The effective annual interest rates of the bank borrowings
ranged from approximately 2.15% to approximately 6.77%.

On 21 February 2023, the Group launched the fourth ABS scheme
known as “Phase Two of Chengtong Financial Leasing Stated-
owned Enterprise Asset-backed Securities Scheme”. The total
issuance of the scheme was RMB1,370,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,561,800,000 on the launch date) and the ABS were divided
into (i) four priority classes with total principal of RMB1,322,000,000
(equivalent to HK$1,507,080,000) which are listed and traded on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange with expected maturity date ranging
from 26 November 2023 to 26 August 2026 and with coupon rates
ranging from 3.95% to 4.26% per annum. The principal and interest
of the priority class ABS shall be repaid quarterly in 14 instalments
in 42 months; and (ii) subordinated class with total principal of
RMB48,000,000 (equivalent to HK$54,720,000) with no coupon
rate and with expected maturity date on 26 October 2027. The
subordinated class ABS are held by the Group and are not listed.
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FINANCIAL LEVERAGE RATIOS . BB ERLEER
2022 2021
—s-= -
Times Times
& &
Total debts/Total equity BEY, s 2.12 1.41
Total debts/Total assets BET BEE 0.62 0.54
Total debts/EBITDA 4 (57, EBITDA 35 20
Interest coverage MNEEBE 9 28
As the Group focused on developing and expanding the leasing HRASEETEREKERAEER - X
business, the leverage of the Group increased significantly during FEASENERLERBLEA RZF
the year. The debt to equity ratio (calculated by dividing total ——F+-A=+—H BEHEERLE
interest-bearing loans by total equity) and debt to asset ratio were (HFEF A B EEFRREERABEL)
approximately 2.12 times and 0.62 time respectively as at 31 MEBEHEELERSRA2.12(5%0.62
December 2022. For the year under review, the interest coverage & REBFA - MEBELXR(EFE
ratio (as calculated by dividing consolidated profit before tax N AERE R X RLE KN AT s 7 BR AR E
and finance costs by finance costs) was approximately 9 times. A EE - BEERLELEH  %E
Notwithstanding the increased leverage, the ratios still indicated that L 2R AT e B AN 52 B R S 58 K Y B IR BE J1 A
the Group had strong ability to generate income to pay its finance SRR o
costs.
SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS N BARE
The Group had no significant investment exceeding 5% of the total RZE-_—_F+-A=+—8 KE£BEL
asset value of the Group as at 31 December 2022. EBBREEBS BHEARRE -
Looking ahead, the Group remains focused on leasing business as RERK  AEBEES )T AEEFBEE
the main direction of its business development and will be prudent BEEBERNEITERR @ WKEEKE
to invest in other financial assets to maximise shareholders’ value. EtemEE  #REEERAL -
TREASURY POLICIES +. BHMBGR

The business activities and operation of the Group were mainly
carried out in Mainland China and Hong Kong, with transactions
denominated in RMB and the USD, which exposed the Group to
foreign currency risks. As at 31 December 2022, the Group had
bank borrowings denominated in RMB, HKD and USD totalling
approximately HK$3,167.01 million and were based on fixed and
floating interest rates, exposing the Group to interest rate risks. The
Group will, where appropriate, use interest rate and foreign currency
swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts for risk management
and hedging purposes with a view to managing the Group's
exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange rate fluctuations. It is
the Group’s policy not to enter into derivative financing transactions
for speculative purposes. It is also the Group's policy not to invest in
financial products with significant underlying leverage or derivative
exposure, including hedge funds or similar instruments.
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group's bank borrowings were
denominated in HKD, RMB and USD. Among the RMB-denominated
bank borrowings of approximately HK$2,661.76 million,
approximately HK$1,023.93 million was based on fixed interest
rates and approximately HK$1,637.83 million was based on floating
interest rates. The HKD-denominated bank borrowings of HK$500
million and USD-denominated bank borrowings of approximately
HK$5.25 million were based on floating interest rates.

As the global inflation rate swung high, the borrowing rates in
different countries fluctuated. The floating interest rates in respect
of Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (HIBOR) in Hong Kong
escalated rapidly in 2022, while the loan prime rates (“LPR") in the
PRC were adjusted downward in 2022.

Most of the Group’s Leasing Receivables were accounted for using
floating interest rates which were benchmarking to the prevailing
LPR and effectively hedged against the interest rate risks arising
from bank borrowings in the PRC.

Having said that, the Group will continue to closely monitor the
risks arising from interest rate fluctuation and apply appropriate
hedging strategies against the interest rate risk caused by the debt
instruments which are based on floating interest rates.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

During the year under review, the Group's businesses were
principally conducted in RMB, while most of the Group’s assets
and liabilities were denominated in HKD and RMB. Fluctuation in
the exchange rate of HKD against RMB may have an impact on the
Group's results. As at 31 December 2022, the net assets of the
Group’s business in the PRC were approximately RMB2,845.17
million. According to Hong Kong Accounting Standards, such
amount of net assets denominated in RMB will be converted at
the exchange rate applicable as at the end of the reporting period.
The Group's foreign exchange reserve decreased by approximately
HK$240 million during the year and impacted the Group’s net assets
as at 31 December 2022. The Group currently does not have any
hedging measures against foreign exchange risks. However, the
Group will continue to closely monitor the possible risks arising from
currency fluctuations.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's pledged bank deposits
amounted to approximately HK$61.71 million, representing a
substantial increase compared to approximately HK$4.41 million
pledged as at 31 December 2021. The pledged bank deposits mainly
included approximately HK$57.63 million pledged as security for
certain bills payables for leasing business (as at 31 December 2021:
Nil), and approximately HK$3.97 million (as at 31 December 2021:
approximately HK$4.28 million) pledged as security for banking
facilities granted to mortgagors of the CCT-Champs-Elysees project.

As at 31 December 2022, the Leasing Receivables of the Group with
an aggregate carrying value of approximately HK$4,846.25 million
(as at 31 December 2021: approximately HK$3,906.59 million) were
charged as security for the Group’s ABS and bank borrowings with
carrying amounts of approximately HK$2,702.27 million (as at 31
December 2021: HK$2,932.61 million) and HK$2,661.76 million
respectively (as at 31 December 2021: approximately HK$981.46
million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL
COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's capital commitments
consisted of purchase of property, plant and equipment, which will
be funded by its internal resources. Please refer to notes 39 and
40 to the financial statements in this annual report for details of the
Group's contingent liabilities and capital commitments.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group does not have any
future plans for other material investments or capital assets in the
coming year.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

No significant event has occurred after the end of the year under
review.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EFREREEREE

DIRECTORS
Mr. Zhang Bin

Mr. Zhang, aged 54, is an executive Director and the Chairman of the
Board. He is also a director of a subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Zhang
joined the Group in July 2010. He was appointed as an executive Director
with effect from 30 January 2014 and served as the Acting Chairman of
the Board with effect from 1 December 2018 until he was appointed as
the Chairman of the Board on 26 June 2019. Mr. Zhang also served as
the Managing Director of the Company from 15 June 2017 to 22 October
2019. Mr. Zhang holds an EMBA degree from China Europe International
Business School and a doctorate degree from Peking University. He also
undertook postdoctoral research in Rutgers University and North Carolina
State University in the United States of America. Mr. Zhang has rich
experience in corporate management. Mr. Zhang is currently the chairman
of China Chengtong Hong Kong Company Limited (“CCHK"), which has
an interest in the shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
("SFO") and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CCHG, the ultimate holding
company of the Company.

Mr. Yang Tianzhou

Mr. Yang, aged 50, is an executive Director and the Managing Director
of the Company. He is also a director of several subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Yang joined the Group in October 2019. Mr. Yang obtained
a bachelor’'s degree in Economics and a master’s degree in Business
Administration from Peking University. In September 2009, he was
accredited as a chartered financial analyst by the CFA Institute. Mr. Yang
worked in various departments and affiliated institutions of the State
Administration of Foreign Exchange (“SAFE") of the PRC. He worked
as the deputy director of the Business Supervision Division of SAFE,
the deputy director of the Strategic Research Division of the Reserves
Management Department of SAFE, the vice-representative of the
representative office of the People’s Bank of China in America, the chief
dealer of the trading office of SAFE in New York, and the director of the
General Affairs Division of the SAFE Investment Centre successively. Mr.
Yang also served as the deputy mayor of Dezhou City, Shandong Province,
the PRC and worked as the vice-president of the Hunan branch of the
Export-Import Bank of China. From July 2017 to May 2019, he worked
as the general manager of Polaris Bay Group Company Limited, whose
shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Since September 2019,
Mr. Yang has been working as the deputy general manager of CCHK.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Mr, Gu Honglin

Mr. Gu, aged 45, is an executive Director of the Company. Mr. Gu joined
the Group in December 2022. Mr. Gu obtained a bachelor’'s degree in
Management from Beifang Jiaotong University (currently known as
Beijing Jiaotong University) and a master’'s degree in Management from
Renmin University of China. Mr. Gu is a non-practicing certified public
accountant and a certified tax adviser in the PRC. During the period from
2001 to 2012, Mr. Gu worked in various private companies in the PRC
mainly responsible for financial management and accounting matters. He
worked as a manager of the financial analysis department of Shenzhen
Aisidi Company Limited, whose shares are listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange. In January 2013, Mr. Gu joined CCHG and served as a
senior financial manager and then the head of the equity management
department, and later served as the deputy general manager of Beijing
Chengyang Investment Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of CCHG. Mr. Gu has been a member of the executive committee
and the chief accountant of CCHK since December 2021 and October
2022 respectively. He is a director and the financial manager of China
Chengtong (Hong Kong) Asset Management Company Limited and China
Chengtong Investment Company Limited, both are wholly-owned by
CCHK. Chengtong (Hong Kong) Asset Management Company Limited is
a company licensed by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong
Kong (central entity number: BHF234) to conduct Type 1 (dealing in
securities), Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset management)
regulated activities under the SFO. Mr. Gu is also the financial manager
of Chengtong (Shenzhen) Investment Company Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CCHK. Mr. Gu is also a supervisor of Dongxing Securities
Corporation Limited, whose shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange.
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Professor Chang Qing

Professor Chang, aged 65, is an independent non-executive Director of the
Company. Professor Chang joined the Group in January 2013. Professor
Chang obtained a master's degree in Economics from Jilin University in
1985 and a PhD degree from Chinese Academy of Social Sciences. He has
over 30 years of experience in economic and financial field. He is currently
the chairman of Jinpeng International Futures Co., Ltd., a professor of the
College of Economics and Management of China Agricultural University,
and Lifetime Honorary Professor of the MBA Education Centre of China
Agricultural University. Professor Chang is now acting as an independent
non-executive director of Kangda International Environmental Company
Limited and Honghua Group Limited (both companies’ shares are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”)). He previously served as an independent director of Tibet
Summit Resources Co., Ltd. and TBEA Co., Ltd. (both companies’ shares
are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange) as well as Yuan Longping
High-Tech Agriculture Co., Ltd. and Rongfeng Holding Group Co., Ltd. (both
companies’ shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange). Professor
Chang was a council member of the Shanghai Futures Exchange and the
vice president of China Futures Association.

Mr. Lee Man Chun, Tony

Mr. Lee, aged 69, is an independent non-executive Director of the
Company. Mr. Lee joined the Group in November 2013. Mr. Lee obtained
a master’s degree in Business Administration from Chu Hai College of
Higher Education in 1981. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. He has over 40 years of experience in
accounting, capital markets, corporate management, finance and banking.
Previously, he worked for and held senior positions in Standard Chartered
Bank (Hong Kong) Limited and Sanwa International Finance Ltd. Mr. Lee
was an executive director of Shenwan Hongyuan (H.K.) Limited (formerly
known as Shenyin Wanguo (H.K.) Limited) (the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) from June 2000 to June 2017,
and served as its chief executive officer during the period from July 2000
to March 2012.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Professor He Jia

Professor He, aged 68, is an independent non-executive Director of
the Company. Professor He joined the Group in September 2015. He
holds a PhD degree in Finance from the Wharton School of University of
Pennsylvania, the United States. Currently, he is the Dean of Shanghai
North Bund Finance Institute, a member of the Finance Development
Decision-making Consultation Committee of Shenzhen, the Changjiang
Scholar Chair Professor of the Ministry of Education, the Chair Professor
of Shandong University, the University Professor of Zhejiang University,
and an executive director and academic member of the China Society for
Finance and Banking.

Professor He is currently an independent non-executive director of Bank of
Tianjin Co., Ltd. (the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange) and
an independent director of Xinlong Holding (Group) Co., Ltd. (the shares of
which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange).

Professor He was previously an independent non-executive director of
a number of listed companies in Hong Kong and Shanghai, including
Wealthking Investments Limited, Shanghai Junshi Biosciences Co., Ltd.
and CITIC Securities Company Limited. He was also an independent
director of a number of listed companies in Shanghai and Shenzhen,
including Norinco International Cooperation Company Limited, Tibet Huayu
Mining Co., Ltd., Tsinghua Tongfang Co., Ltd., Xgd Inc. and Shenzhen
Soling Industrial Co., Ltd.. He was also an independent director of China
Investment Securities Co., Ltd.

Professor He was a financial consultant for the Chengdu and Quanzhou
municipal governments. He was also a jointly appointed professor at
the Tsinghua University, the leading professor of the Faculty of Financial
Mathematics and Engineering at the South University of Science and
Technology, a professor of the Department of Finance and a director of
the MBA program in Finance at the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He
was also an editor of China Financial Economics Review, and served as a
member of the editorial commitee of a number of journals, including China
Accounting and Finance Review and Research in Banking and Finance.
Professor He was a member of the Planning and Development Committee
of China Securities Regulatory Commission from June 2001 to August
2002, and a director of integrated research institute of the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange from June 2001 to October 2002.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EFREREEREE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Poon Tsz Kin

Mr. Poon, aged 57, is the company secretary and financial controller of
the Company. He joined the Group in May 2019. He holds a professional
diploma in Accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is
a Certified Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Poon previously worked for an international accounting
firm and a number of public companies in Hong Kong, Singapore and
Canada respectively. He has more than 20 years' experience in auditing,
accounting and finance, internal control and corporate management.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of the
Group for the year.

The Group considers good corporate governance is vital to the healthy and
sustainable development of the Group and the Group strives to uphold
high standards of corporate governance continuously.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company had complied with all the
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code") as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) for the year.

The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance practices to
ensure those continue to comply with the CG Code, and acknowledges
the important role of the Board in providing effective leadership and
direction to the Group's business and ensuring operational transparency
and accountability.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company
during the year are summarised as follows:

THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The Board provides leadership for the Company in the interests of the
shareholders, approves policies, strategies and plans, and oversees their
implementation to sustain the healthy growth of the Company.

The Board is responsible for all major matters of the Group, and the
approval and monitoring of all material changes in policies, including risk
management strategies, dividend policy, appointment of directors and
other significant financial and operational matters.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as well
as the advice and services of the company secretary of the Company,
with a view to ensure that the Board's procedures and all applicable laws,
Rules and regulations are followed. In general, each Director can seek
independent professional advices in appropriate circumstances at the
Company’s expenses, upon making such request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Company
are delegated to the Managing Director, executive Directors and senior
management. Approval from the Board has to be obtained prior to entering
into any significant transactions.
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Composition

The composition of the Board encompasses the necessary balance of
skills and experiences desirable for effective leadership of the Group and
reflects the independence in decision-making of the Board.

During the year and as at the date of this report, the Board comprised the
following Directors:

Executive Directors

ZHANG Bin (Chairman of the Board)
YANG Tianzhou (Managing Director)
GU Honglin (appointed with effect from 23 December 2022)

Non-executive Director

Wang Daxiong (appointed on 1 July 2022, and resigned with
effect from 11 January 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

CHANG Qing
LEE Man Chun, Tony
HE Jia

The list of Directors (by category) is disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company and on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Chairman and Managing Director

During the year, the positions of the Chairman of the Board and the
Managing Director were held by Mr. Zhang Bin and Mr. Yang Tianzhou
respectively. Their respective responsibilities are clearly defined and set
out in writing to ensure a balance of power and authority.

As the Chairman of the Board, Mr. Zhang Bin provides leadership to
the Board and is responsible for ensuring that relevant duties and
responsibilities are fully and appropriately executed by the Directors in
accordance with good corporate governance practice. With the support of
the senior management, the Chairman of the Board is also responsible for
ensuring that each of the Directors can timely receive adequate, complete
and reliable information and appropriate briefing on issues to be discussed
at Board meetings.

Mr. Yang Tianzhou, the Managing Director, is responsible for leading
the management to implement policies, strategies as well as all goals
and plans adopted and approved by the Board, and is in charge of the
Company'’s day-to-day operations.

32 2022 Annual Report FEE#RE

ik

EERNEABR T ARASARE L REFAE
MBS RAERER MR T S FRREOBYL
o

REFERRARERR  HNESS2EEN
™~

HITEE

FR(EFELE)
BRMN(EFEEE)
BAMR—F—_—F+ A =HARZL)

FHITEE

FRER-ZE-—F+A—HEZER
HB-F - =F—H+—HEHT)

BUFHITEE

®8
FER
Al

94 8 (AR VR IE ETTRAIE RN AR A
IR 2 B 2 WIBI A R A 2 AR 2 P 0B
LB -

TRERESRKE

RAFE - RABHRRELERGBEMNEED
EEISFESIRAEFELENRL - RESB
ZRECDBEAENASHEL ALY - AERE
N EEEME DI o

FRETEFREFEIFAEEFES  YRAK
BROPEEATHRBREST D - REWITE
HRARE ERREREEZXF T  BEFELXE

NEERRSESFULKERREN  THRAE
MWER  YHBREESERELIRIEERFE

SN
BENR -

EXAKELANCEREREERERNTRE
FERMEMENERR - REARFAE BER
B TEAEARFNBEELE -



Corporate Governance Report

Board Independence Mechanism

The Company has established mechanism to ensure independent views
and input are available to the Board. The Company has at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive directors representing not less than one-
third of the Board, with at least one independent non-executive director
possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has adopted the Independent View Policy, pursuant to
which the independent non-executive Directors are required to, among
other matters, (i) keep up-to-date with the Company's business affairs
and be involved in scrutinising the Company's performance in achieving
agreed corporate goals and objectives, and monitor the relevant reporting;
and (ii) bring independent judgment to bear on issues of strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, resources, key appointments and standards
of conduct, and assist in reviewing some of the Board’s major decisions,
the Company'’s performance in relation to corporate goals, and monitor the
relevant reporting. The Board reviews the implementation of the Board
independence mechanism on an annual basis and considers that it remains
effective for the year.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of
the existing independent non-executive Directors of his independence
pursuant to the requirements of Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers all independent non-executive Directors to be
independent in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in
the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of business
and financial expertise and relevant experience to the Board and provide
independent opinions for decision-making of the Board. Through active
participation in Board meetings, taking the lead in issues involving
potential conflicts of interest and serving on committees of the Board, all
independent non-executive Directors make positive contributions to the
orderly management and effective operation of the Company.

Appointment and Succession Planning of Directors

The Board has established the nomination committee (“Nomination
Committee”) and adopted formal, considered and transparent procedures
for the appointment and succession planning of Directors. Appropriate
candidates for directorship as properly selected by the Nomination
Committee will be proposed to the Board for approval.

The Board and the Nomination Committee as a whole are responsible for
reviewing the Board composition, developing and formulating the relevant
procedures for nomination and appointment of Directors, monitoring the
appointment and succession planning of Directors and assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors. The Board and
the Nomination Committee review the structure, size and composition
of the Board regularly to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives and gender etc. appropriate to
the requirements of the business of the Group.
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All Directors are appointed for a term of one year and are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting
("AGM") of the Company at least once every three years. In accordance
with the Articles of Association of the Company, one-third of the Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation every year and any new Director
appointed to fill a causal vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold
office only until the next following AGM of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election at such meeting.

The Board recommended the re-appointment of the Directors standing for
re-election at the forthcoming AGM of the Company. Detailed information
of the Directors standing for re-election will be set out in the circular of
the Company in relation to the forthcoming AGM to be despatched to the
shareholders.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy and continuously
seeks to enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain the
highest standards of corporate governance and recognises and embraces
the benefits of having a diverse Board.

The Company believes that diversity of the Board can be achieved through
consideration of a number of factors when deciding on appointments
of Directors, including but not limited to gender, age, race, cultural and
educational background, length of service, skills, professional experience,
regional and industrial experience, and any other factors that the Board
deems appropriate from time to time. For the purpose of implementing
board diversity, the Company will also take into account factors based on
its own business model and specific needs from time to time.

The composition, experience and balance of skills in the Board are
regularly reviewed and assessed to ensure that the Board retains core
members who have an understanding of the Group for a long period of
time alongside with new Director(s) to be appointed from time to time
who bring(s) fresh perspectives and diverse experiences to the Board.
The Nomination Committee has the primary responsibility for identifying
suitably qualified candidates to become members of the Board and,
in carrying out such responsibility, will give adequate consideration to
the Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee believes that
the current composition of the Board is based on the history and actual
conditions of the Company and demonstrates a thorough consideration of
the factors for achieving board diversity.
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The Board shall review the implementation and effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy on an annual basis to ensure its continuous effectiveness.
The Nomination Committee will also assess the merits and contribution
brought by the Directors to the Board against the objective criteria,
with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board that would
complement the Company's corporate strategy.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised six Directors, all
were male. The Company endeavors to avoid a single-gender Board
and will introduce at least one female Director by 31 December 2024
so to maintain a healthy balance of gender diversity in the Board. When
appointing a director of a different gender, the Company shall ensure
that such director possesses the necessary skills, experience and calibre
appropriate to the Company's business. The Board believes gender
diversity will offer the Board with new insights and will enhance the
decision making process and foster the business development of the
Group. In the future, the Board will continue to ensure that gender is one
of the factors to be considered in nominating candidates for directorship.

Apart from gender diversity at the Board level, the Company also targets
to avoid a single-gender workforce (including the senior management).
As at the date of this report, male and female employees represent
approximately 58% and 42% of the Group's workforce (including the
senior management) respectively which indicate that the Group has
maintained a balanced gender ratio in the workforce. Although gender
diversity issue is less relevant to the Group given the nature of the Group's
business, the Company will still pay due regard to this issue and review
the gender diversity of the workforce in accordance with the business
development of the Group from time to time.

Board Meetings

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

Regular Board meetings are held at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals for reviewing the Group’s financial and operating
performance, discussing and approving annual and interim results and

considering and approving the overall strategies of the Company.

During the year, thirteen Board meetings were held, including four regular
Board meetings.
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The individual attendance record of each Director in respect of the Board
meetings held during the year is set out below:

Name of Directors

BREFERNAEERNBTTZESES
HEREHINT

& 2 (&R

Number of Attendance/
Number of Board
Meetings Held

HERE
g BTEREINRE
ZHANG Bin 13/13
®OE
YANG Tianzhou 13/13
15 B M
GU Honglin (note 1) 0/0
BESMR (A1)
CHANG Qing 13/13
B A
LEE Man Chun, Tony 13/13
TEx
HE Jia 13/13
il £
WANG Daxiong (note 2) 717
TR W E2)
Notes: Bt -
1. Mr. Gu Honglin was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 23 1. BEAMTERZEARPTES BT _F+=

December 2022 and no Board meeting was held during his tenure in 2022.

2. Mr. Wang Daxiong was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 1
July 2022 and seven Board meetings were held during his tenure in 2022.

Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Meeting schedules and agenda of each Board meeting are normally made
available to the Directors in advance. Notices of regular Board meetings
are served to all Directors at least 14 days before the meetings. For other
Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.
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Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors in a timely manner before each Board
meeting or committee meeting to keep the Directors apprised of the latest
development and financial position of the Company and to enable them to
make informed decisions. The Board and each Director also have separate
and independent access to the senior management whenever necessary.

The company secretary of the Company assists the Chairman of the
Board to prepare the agenda for the Board meetings and ensures that
all applicable rules and procedures are followed in each meeting. Draft
agenda is sent to all Directors in advance to allow Directors to include
any matter they would like to discuss in the meeting. Draft minutes
are circulated to all Directors for review and amendment as soon as
practicable after the meeting is held. All Board members will be given a
copy of the finalised minutes approved by Directors who attended the
meeting.

Should a Director have any conflict of interest in any proposed
transactions, the Director concerned will abstain from voting on related
resolutions. Directors without any conflict of interest will be present at the
Board meetings to vote and resolve on such issues.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established five committees, namely, the executive
committee (“Executive Committee”), the audit committee (“Audit
Committee”), the remuneration committee ("Remuneration
Committee”), the Nomination Committee and the environmental, social
and governance committee ("ESG Committee") (established with effect
from 1 July 2022), each overseeing and being responsible for affairs in
different aspects of the Company. All Board committees are provided
with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable
request, are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company's expenses.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee comprises all executive Directors. The
Executive Committee is responsible for the daily business operations and
management of the Company, the execution of decisions and strategies
of the Board within the scope of authorisation granted by the Board. The
Executive Committee regularly reports to the Board regarding the Group’s
business operations and seeks its advice and approval on matters involving
material decision-making.

As at 31 December 2022, the Executive Committee comprised Mr. Zhang
Bin (chairman of the Executive Committee), Mr. Yang Tianzhou and Mr.
Gu Honglin (who was appointed as a member of the Executive Committee
on 23 December 2022).
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Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee comprised three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lee Man Chun, Tony
(chairman of the Audit Committee), Professor Chang Qing and Professor
He Jia, and the then non-executive Director, namely Mr. Wang Daxiong
(who was appointed as a member of the Audit Committee on 1 July 2022
and subsequently resigned with effect from 11 January 2023). Mr. Lee
Man Chun, Tony is an independent non-executive Director who possesses
the appropriate professional accounting qualifications and financial
management expertise. None of the members of the Audit Committee is
a former partner of the Company's existing external auditor.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@) to review the financial statements and reports of the Company
and consider any significant or unusual items raised by the internal
auditor or external auditor before submission to the Board;

(b)  to oversee the relationship between the Company and the external
auditor, to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of
the external auditor, and make recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditor;
and

(c)  toreview the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting system, internal control system and risk management
system and associated procedures.

The Audit Committee has held four meetings during the year to review
the audit plan, financial results and reports, capital management system,
the risk management and internal control system, the effectiveness of the
internal audit function of the Company, to discuss and recommend the
change of the external auditor and to perform its other duties under the
CG Code.

There was no disagreement between the Audit Committee and the
Board in respect of matters about selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of an external auditor.

During the year, the Company's annual results for the year ended 31

December 2021 and the interim results for the six months ended 30 June
2022 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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Remuneration Committee

During the year and as at 31 December 2022, the Remuneration
Committee comprised two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Professor He Jia (chairman of the Remuneration Committee) and Mr. Lee
Man Chun, Tony and an executive Director, namely Mr. Zhang Bin.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy and structure
of the Company as well as on the remuneration packages of individual
Directors and the senior management. The human resources department
of the Group is responsible for the collection and administration of the
human resources data and making recommendations to the Remuneration
Committee for consideration. The Remuneration Committee is also
responsible for establishing transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any
of his associates will participate in deciding on his own remuneration.
The remuneration of the Directors and the senior management of the
Company is determined by reference to the performance of the individual
and the Company, their role and position (if any) in the group members of
CCHG, the ultimate holding company of the Company, as well as market
conditions.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the year to
review the remuneration policy and structure of the Company and the
remuneration packages of the Directors and the senior management. At
the meeting, the Remuneration Committee discussed the performance of
the Directors, reviewed their service contracts, considered their role and
position (if any) in the group members of CCHG, salaries and/or director’s
fees paid by comparable companies and general employment conditions
before making recommendations to the Board regarding the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management.

Nomination Committee

During the year and as at 31 December 2022, the Nomination Committee
comprised two independent non-executive Directors, namely Professor
Chang Qing (chairman of the Nomination Committee) and Mr. Lee Man
Chun, Tony, and an executive Director, namely Mr. Zhang Bin.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for, among others, nominating
candidates for directorship appointment and succession, reviewing the
composition and structure of the Board from time to time and making
recommendations to the Board in order to ensure the balance and diversity
of expertise, skills, experience and gender etc. among the members of the
Board.
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According to the Nomination Policy adopted by the Company,
appointments of Board members will be made on a merit basis and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria. The selection
criteria used in assessing the suitability of a candidate include:

o the candidate’s academic background and qualifications (including
professional qualifications, skills and knowledge which are relevant
to the Company's business and corporate strategy);

o the candidate’s relevant experience in the industry;
° the candidate’s character and integrity;

o the candidate’s willingness and capacity to devote adequate time in
discharge of a director’s duties;

o whether the candidate can contribute to the Board a diversity
of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, race,
cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service;

o (where the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent
non-executive Director) whether the candidate is in compliance with
the criteria of independence under the Listing Rules; and

o any other factors as may be determined by the Board from time to
time.

In terms of nomination procedures, any Board member may nominate or
invite a candidate for appointment as a Director to be considered by the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee will then evaluate
the personal profile of the candidate based on the selection criteria set
out above, undertake due diligence in respect of such candidate and
make recommendation for the Board’s consideration and approval. For
nomination of independent non-executive Director, the Nomination
Committee will also assess the candidate’s independence in accordance
with the CG Code and the Listing Rules. For re-appointment of retiring
Directors, the Nomination Committee will review the candidate’s overall
contribution and performance (including the candidate’s attendance at
Board committee meetings, Board meetings and general meetings,
his/her level of participation and performance in the Board), and make
recommendations to the Board and the shareholders for re-election at
general meetings.

During the year, the Nomination Committee held three meetings to review
the Nomination Policy and the terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee as well as the matters relating to appointment of new
Directors and re-election of retiring Directors. The Nomination Committee
reviewed the detailed resumes of Mr. Gu Honglin and Mr. Wang Daxiong
and having made due regard to the Nomination Policy and the Board
Diversity Policy, recommended to the Board for their appointment as an
executive Director and a non-executive Director respectively.
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ESG Committee

The ESG Committee was established with effect from 1 July 2022. At
the time of its establishment and as at 31 December 2022, Mr. Wang
Daxiong, the then non-executive Director who was appointed on 1
July 2022, acted as the chairman of the ESG Committee, and Mr. Yang
Tianzhou, an executive Director, and Professor He Jia, an independent
non-executive Director, acted as the members of the ESG Committee.
On 11 January 2023, Mr. Wang Daxiong resigned as the chairman of the
ESG Committee, upon which Mr. Yang Tianzhou was appointed as the
new chairman in replacement of Mr. Wang. On the same date, Mr. Gu
Honglin, an executive Director, was also appointed as a member of the
ESG Committee and therefore since 11 January 2023, the ESG Committee
comprises Mr. Yang Tianzhou (chairman of the ESG Committee), Professor
He Jia and Mr. Gu Honglin as members.

The ESG Committee is mainly responsible for (a) formulating the Group's
ESG strategies and objectives; (b) coordinating and supervising ESG-
related matters of the Group; (c) identifying significant ESG risks; (d)
monitoring the effectiveness of ESG risk management and internal control;
(e) coordinating for the preparation of the ESG report; and (f) performing
other duties and functions assigned to the ESG Committee by the Board
from time to time.

As the ESG Committee was only established on 1 July 2022, while Mr.
Wang Daxiong, the then chairman of the ESG Committee, has met with
the Company’s ESG working group and the external ESG consultant to
discuss the direction and strategies of the Group's ESG matters, no formal
meeting of the ESG Committee has been held during the year.
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Board Committee Meetings EEXZEEER
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance EREANEREEHELE

The individual attendance record of each Director in respect of the
meetings of the Board committees (except for the ESG Committee) held
during the year is set out below:

YT

Number of Attendance/

Number of Board Committee Meetings Held

BREZAANAEEANRTZESZEEES

GR% - HBREREAR

BRSN 2 (B B i AT 8

HERE
BUEEZEEEERHY

Name of Directors Executive Audit Remuneration Nomination

Committee Committee Committee Committee
BEEsR HITEESE EREEE FHESSE REZEE
ZHANG Bin 1717 Not applicable 2/2 3/3
ik E 17/17 TEA 2/2 3/3
YANG Tianzhou 1717 Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable
15 B M 1717 TR TERA TERA
GU Honglin (note 1) 0/0 Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable
FEMR (KA T) 0/0 TEMA TEA A~
WANG Daxiong (note 2) Not applicable 2/2 Not applicable Not applicable
TR (H77F2) TiEA 2/2 TiE A TiEA
CHANG Qing Not applicable 4/4 Not applicable 3/3
B F TEA 4/4 TiEA 3/3
LEE Man Chun, Tony Not applicable 4/4 2/2 3/3
ZE2 A3 A 4/4 2/2 3/3
HE Jia Not applicable 4/4 2/2 Not applicable
(EES TEMA 4/4 2/2 TEMA
Notes: Hiat -
1. Mr. Gu Honglin was appointed as a member of the Executive Committee with 1. BEAMEEBRZEANTZESENE A=

effect from 23 December 2022 and no meeting of the Executive Committee was
held during his tenure in 2022.

Z. Mr. Wang Daxiong was appointed as a member of the Audit Committee with effect

from 1 July 2022 and two meetings of the Audit Committee were held during his
tenure in 2022.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted its own code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions (“Code of Conduct”) on terms no less exacting
than the required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code"”) as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Specific enquiry has been made of all
the Directors and the Directors have confirmed that they had complied
with the requirements of the Code of Conduct and the Model Code during
the year. No incident of non-compliance of the Code of Conduct or the
Model Code by the Directors was noted by the Board during the year.

The Company has also set out written guidelines on terms no less
exacting than the Model Code for securities transactions by the relevant
employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information in
relation to the Company or its securities due to their office or employment.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has not established a corporate governance committee.
Instead, the full Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions. During the year, the corporate governance duties
performed by the Board mainly include developing and reviewing the
Company's policies and practices on corporate governance, reviewing
and monitoring the training and continuous professional development
of the Directors and senior management, reviewing and monitoring the
Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual applicable to employees and the Directors, and
reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
this corporate governance report.

Every Board member has full access to the advice and services of the
company secretary of the Company with a view to ensuring that the Board
procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations are followed. They
are also entitled to have full access to Board papers and related materials
so that they are able to make an informed decision and to discharge their
duties and responsibilities.
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SUPPORT AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

All Directors have been given relevant guideline materials regarding
the duties and responsibilities of being a director, the relevant laws

and regulations applicable to directors, duty of disclosure of interest

and business of the Group and the Directors have been updated by the
Company on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices. There
is a procedure agreed by the Board to ensure that the Directors, upon
reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

According to the training records provided by the Directors to the

Company, save for Mr. Gu Honglin who was only appointed as a Director

on 23 December 2022 and therefore has not participated in any continuous
professional development during the year, each of the following Directors
has participated in continuous professional development during the year
by attending seminars and/or reviewing reading materials provided by the
Company on the following topics to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills:

Name of Directors

EEXEREXRRE

EREFHEREHABRTESZIRE  EAR
EXZHMENIRRY  aBkBEZEEREAS
BEGHEESIEN - ARREMERESE
BAEBLMARAREMBEREEREZ&ZMER
BN UERESEBERANERINEEERT
B-EFROBETRTF  UBRERFITNELS
BENIR  EEENBATSRKBYEXER
ERAARAA -

BIBEEERADRIRE 2 HFIIGEE - BREEMIE
AR B —F+ A +=RTEETAES
M EAARFEE R ETAFEHEZEN - AT
BEEENAFENBBHEEBE T EEZEE
ek, HHEARRREZ MRS 20
BEEUERE  UBERFENES 2 MBI

Topics covered in training

EEpE FTRE 253 &

(Notes)

(H172)

ZHANG Bin a,b,c
&R

YANG Tianzhou a, b c
15 M

CHANG Qing a, b, c
A |

LEE Man Chun, Tony a b cd
FE2

HE Jia a, b c
] fE

WANG Daxiong (appointed on 1 July 2022, and resigned with effect from 11 January 2023) a, b, c

FAMR -FE-—F+A—HEZERE T =-=F—A+—HEFE)

Notes:
(a)

(b)
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Recent updates on CG Code
ESG issues and climate-related financial disclosures
Recent amendments of Listing Rules relating to share schemes

Miscellaneous topics covering financial matters, general mergers and acquisitions,
tax, technology, digital platforms and ethics, and data protection etc.
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RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE
PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to prepare the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Group, and for such internal control as the
Directors determine as necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 74 to 78 of the annual report of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The remuneration of the external auditor of the Company in respect of
audit services and non-audit services for the year ended 31 December
2022 amounted to approximately HK$1,180,000 and HK$900,000
respectively. An analysis of the remuneration of the external auditor of the
Company is set out below:
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BERAKREBRAFLLE  KPELBERD
BRAR-

BRARRRINEZEADE N E LB 75 3Rk BA
EHENBREENARTREE T _—_F1+=
A=+—BHUIEFEZFEREFTAZTISEZE
SR ERDRE -

RARERMINEZBAIREBEE T -_—F+ A
—t—HIEFERHBERE RIEEZRYE
MEZFEE 5 B4 A% 1,180,0007T KB
900,0007T ° AN~ &l FNIE 1% BXRD 09 B & 2 A &5
R

Amount of fee
for the year ended
31 December 2022

BE-—Z-_—-%+=A
=+—BLEEEH
(HK$000)
(E#TFor)
Audit services EZRB 1,180
Non-audit services: IEEIRT -

- Review of interim results - PHAE AR 180

= Services in relation to the major transactions of finance - REERRERE R EE
lease arrangements 2 2 BR7% 720
Total @t 2,080
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The organisation structure of the Company has defined lines of
responsibilities and appropriate responsibilities and authority were
delegated to senior management. The Board is responsible for the
establishment and reviewing the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control system. The Company has also established a risk
management department, of which one of the executive Directors serves
as the manager-in-charge, to be responsible for the internal audit function
and to assist the Board to review the risk management and internal control
system of the Group on an ongoing basis. However, such system aims
at managing rather than eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives. Hence, such system can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has established effective and operational procedures to identify,
assess and manage major risks faced by the Group. Such procedures
will be updated from time to time to reflect the changes in rules and
regulations, and serve as a guideline for updating the risk management
and internal control system in a timely manner. The Board considers that
as at the date of this report, the risk management and internal control
system is adequate and effective in safeguarding the assets of the Group
and protecting the interests of shareholders, customers and employees of
the Group.

The Executive Committee is responsible for implementing the procedures
approved by the Board to identify, assess and manage major risks faced by
the Group. Such procedures include the design, operation and supervision
of suitable risk management and internal control system to mitigate and
control risks. The main features of the risk management and internal
control system and the process used by the Company to identify, evaluate
and manage major risks are as follows:

o the Board is responsible for the supervision of all business activities
of the Group and the implementation of strategic plans and policy.
The Executive Committee is responsible for the effective daily
operation of the Group and for ensuring that the Group operates in
accordance with the objectives, strategy and budget of the Group;

o the Audit Committee periodically reviews the work of the risk
management department, external auditor, regulatory bodies and the
Executive Committee in respect of the risk management and internal
control system, and assesses the feasibility and effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control system; and

o the risk management department also formulates the annual
internal audit plan and procedures, conducts periodic independent
reviews on the operations of individual divisions and subsidiaries to
identify any irregularities and risks, develops action plans and makes
recommendations to address the identified risks, and reports to the
Audit Committee on any key findings and progress of the internal
audit process. The Audit Committee, in turn, reports to the Board on
any material issues and makes recommendations to the Board.

2022 Annual Report FERE

46

R\ B B & A ERER 4

ARRIWABREABRARET )Y  FRER
EORBEEENEILEE EFSREARE
BRABEE RN B RBFTEKR - AAF]
NERZEREESNM  HEP-—BATEFE
THFIREA  AENAEZNERBHESS
FERNASENRREENRAMEERS - A
M- ZEGEEEEMIERREERFEH R
ZEB o Bt - ZERERTEEERNKER
B R E L A IR W B E B RTE o

EFgCguRR  FEREEAKEREENE
ZRBHNERRITEFREF -  ZRBFATHE
B ARBRIFRIERHIRE R - I A REEH
Rl ERE R AMEIE RG2S - EEFRA/RN
ABZEBH  AREERAFEERARTNRE
B EAEBENEERREALBRR - TP
REBRFIZE -

HITZRESABERTHESSHENERF AR
R AHMEREBEASERGROH T ERR - ZI2fF
BREER BFREREERRERE AR
FELAOREE MRt E b o B E TR R AR R
BT ERHUARARRARARENFEREES
AREBEFNT

s EXTREERTAKENMAEKEDR
REEMF B RBEONT - ITEZEEA
BEAREEREEBNAREERERZA
SENBR - RKAERIREEE

s ERZEETHRIREMREEI - HNE
ZHE MERBRATZESRERR
BB IR N A BREE R R AR TE - AP
b B IR I A BREE R R AR R 1T I R R BE
&

. ERERSPTHEEENSELHER
TP - SHERIRPI R B A T 75 8
S AR MR FERER - 5
RATRHE RREIEE M AR E L
B B BB M EATI RS
RABREREHE - BRERGAUNE
EEEHEMEAEE  LAEFSRY
-



Corporate Governance Report

In strict compliance with the requirements of Code Provision D.2.1
of the CG Code, the Board conducts a comprehensive review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system of the
Group on an annual basis. The review includes an assessment of the
prevailing internal control and risk management practices of the Group
and covers various aspects including financial control, operational control,
compliance control and risk management. If material internal control
defects are found in the reviews of the risk management and internal
control systems, the Board is responsible for ensuring that adequate
resources are allocated to the relevant departments within the Group and
that the recommendations made by the risk management department of
the Group are duly implemented, so that the defects can be resolved on a
timely manner.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the review report of the risk
management department in respect of the Group's resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
accounting of the Company, internal audit, financial reporting functions
as well as those relating to the ESG performance and reporting of
the Company, and had conducted a comprehensive review of the risk
management and internal control system of the Group covering the
period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022. Compared with 2021,
there has been no significant or major change in the nature and extent of
significant risks faced by the Group as well as the ability of the Company
to cope with the changes in its business and the external environment.
Though COVID-19 and other infectious diseases may bring new challenges
to the Group, the Board considered that the risk management and
internal control system of the Company is adequate and effective and the
Company has complied with the code provisions of the CG Code relating
to risk management and internal control.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has formulated policies on information disclosure and
regularly reminded the Directors and employees to properly comply with
relevant policies on inside information. At the same time, the Company
will notify the Directors, senior management and employees the latest
guidance announced by the regulatory body on such information disclosure
from time to time to keep all of them abreast of the latest requirements.

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Group has taken reasonable
measures to:

restrict the access of confidential information by a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis;

il prohibit the management and all employees from unauthorised use
of confidential or inside information; and

iii.  disclose inside information as soon as reasonably practicable in
accordance with the prevailing requirements under the SFO and the
Listing Rules.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year, the company secretary of the Company is Mr. Poon
Tsz Kin, who is a full-time employee of the Company and has day-to-
day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. In delivering his service as
the company secretary of the Company, Mr. Poon has direct contact
with the Chairman of the Board, the Managing Director and other senior
management of the Company to ensure that information is communicated
seamlessly among the Directors and that the policies and procedures
approved by the Board and all applicable laws, rules and regulations
are complied with. He is also responsible for facilitating professional
development training of the Directors.

Mr. Poon has confirmed that during the year, he had taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Pursuant to the Listing Rules, all the resolutions of general meetings are
conducted by way of poll.

Poll results will be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company on the day of the relevant general meeting.

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for communication
between the shareholders and the Board. The Chairman of the Board as
well as the chairman of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and any other committees
(as appropriate) or in their absence, other members of the Board or
the respective committees, and where applicable, the chairman of the
independent Board committee, are available to answer questions at the
general meetings. The external auditors also attend the AGM to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content
of the auditors report etc.
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During the year, the Company held two general meetings (being the AGM
on 24 June 2022 and the general meeting on 8 September 2022). The
attendance records of the Directors in respect of the general meetings
held during the year are as follows:

Name of Directors

EtRELSRSE

RAFEAR » ARABHBITRABRAE BIR

“ECCHERATOASTHNRRBESFRER
RZZBZZFAANBBTHRRAS) - EF
BERRAFERTZRRAGZHFELHNT

Number of Attendance/
Number of General
Meetings Held

ERE/
R-ZBZZFE
EEnE BITRRRERE
ZHANG Bin 2/2
ik OE
YANG Tianzhou 2/2
15 EIM
GU Honglin (appointed on 23 December 2022) 0/0
AR _F——FF+ A=+ =HEZF)
CHANG Qing 2/2
A |
LEE Man Chun, Tony 2/2
xE2
HE Jia 2/2
f] 1=
WANG Daxiong (appointed on 1 July 2022 and resigned with effect from 11 January 2023) 11

TR -F_—Ft+tA-HEZARE _FT_=F—H1—HEHE)

The Company communicates information to the shareholders mainly
through the Company’s financial reports (interim and annual reports),
AGMs and other general meetings that may be convened, as well as by
making available (i) all the corporate communication documents including
but not limited to annual reports, interim reports, notices of general
meetings, circulars, and proxy forms (“Corporate Communication”);
(ii) other documents issued by the Company which are published
on the website of the Stock Exchange for the information or action
of the shareholders, including announcements, monthly returns on
movements in the Company's securities and next day disclosure
returns; (iii) constitutional documents of the Company and terms of
reference of the Board committees; (iv) corporate information including
but not limited to the list of the Directors; and (v) other Corporate
Communication which are published on the Company's websites at
www.irasia.com/listco/hk/chengtong and www.hk217.com.
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Apart from attending general meetings, shareholders of the Company may
also at any time make enquiries and/or communicate their views to the
Company in relation to various matters affecting the Company. Details of
the procedures by which enquiries and/or views may be communicated to
the Company and the relevant contact details of the Company are set out
on page 571 under the sub-heading “Shareholders’ Enquiries” in this report.
Enquiries are dealt with timely.

The Board has reviewed the situation of shareholders’ engagement
and communication during the year as well as the procedures of the
Company's general meetings and was satisfied with the implementation
and effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy of the
Company. The Company will continue to enhance communications and
relationships with its shareholders and investors to keep them abreast of
the Company’s developments.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS
(1) Procedures for Shareholders to Convene a General Meeting

In accordance with sections 566 to 568 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“Companies Ordinance”),
shareholder(s) of the Company representing at least 5% of the total
voting rights of all the shareholders having a right to vote at general
meetings of the Company may require the Directors to convene
a general meeting. The written requisition must state the general
nature of the business to be dealt with at the general meeting, and
may include the text of a resolution that may properly be moved
and is intended to be moved at the meeting. Such request must
be signed by the shareholder(s) concerned and deposited at the
principal office of the Company at Suite 6406, 64/F., Central Plaza,
18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong for the attention of the
company secretary in hard copy form or sent to the Company in
electronic form to public@hk217.com. The requisition may consist
of several documents in like form each signed by one or more of the
shareholders concerned.

If the Directors do not, within 21 days after the date on which the
written requisition is received by the Company, proceed duly to
convene a general meeting on a date not more than 28 days after the
date of the notice convening the general meeting, the shareholder(s)
who requested the meeting, or any of them representing more than
one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene a general meeting, provided that the meeting so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of 3 months from the date on
which the written requisition is received by the Company.

The general meeting convened by shareholders shall be convened

in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which general
meetings are to be convened by the Directors.
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Shareholders’ Enquiries

Shareholders’ enquiries about their shareholdings can be
directed to the Company’s share registrar and transfer office,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, by post
to the address at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong or visit
https://www.computershare.com/hk/en/online_feedback. Other
shareholders’ enquiries can be directed to the Company Secretarial
Department of the Company or the company secretary of the
Company by post to the principal office of the Company at Suite
6406, 64/F., Central Plaza, 18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong or
by e-mail to public@hk217.com and such enquiries will be put to the
Board for consideration and handling.

Procedures for Putting Forward Resolutions at the AGM

Shareholders are requested to follow sections 615 and 616 of the
Companies Ordinance for putting forward a resolution at the AGM.
The requirements and procedures are set out below:

(i) Pursuant to section 615 of the Companies Ordinance,
shareholders may request the Company to give notice of
a resolution that is intended to be moved at the AGM to
shareholders of the Company entitled to receive notice of the
AGM. The shareholder(s) making such request must represent
at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all shareholders
having a right to vote on the resolution at the AGM to which
the request relates, or at least 50 shareholders having a right
to vote on the resolution at the AGM to which the request
relates. Such request (a) may be sent to the Company in hard
copy form (by depositing at the principal office of the Company
at Suite 6406, 64/F., Central Plaza, 18 Harbour Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong for the attention of the company secretary) or
in electronic form by email to public@hk217.com; (b) must
identify the resolution of which notice is to be given; (c) must
be signed by the shareholder(s) concerned; and (d) must be
received by the Company not later than 6 weeks before the
AGM to which the requests relate, or if later, the time at which
notice is given of that AGM.

(i)  Pursuant to section 616 of the Companies Ordinance,
the Company which is required under section 615 of the
Companies Ordinance to give notice of a resolution must
send a copy of it at the Company’'s own expense to each
shareholder entitled to receive notice of the AGM in the same
manner as the notice of the AGM and at the same time as, or
as soon as reasonably practicable after, it gives notice of the
AGM.

(2)

(3)
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company adopted the amended and restated Articles of Association
in substitution for, and to the exclusion of, the then existing Articles of
Association of the Company by a special resolution at the AGM held
on 24 June 2022. The amendments made were to bring the Articles of
Association in line with the current provisions of the Companies Ordinance
and the amendments made to Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules which took
effect on 1 January 2022 introducing a common set of core shareholder
protection standards which shall apply to all listed issuers in Hong Kong,
as well as to modernise and update the Articles of Association. Please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 31 May 2022 and the
circular of the Company dated 1 June 2022 for details of the amendments.

The amended and restated Articles of Association of the Company is
published on the website of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk
and the Company’s websites at www.irasia.com/listco/hk/chengtong and
www.hk217.com.
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The Directors present the annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The principal business of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 16 to the financial
statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on page 79 of this annual report.

In order to enhance transparency of the Company and facilitate the
shareholders of the Company and investors to make informed investment
decisions relating to the Company, the Board adopted a dividend policy on
25 February 2019 (“Dividend Policy”).

According to the Dividend Policy, when determining whether to declare
any dividend and the amount of dividend to be declared, the Company
shall consider a number of factors, including but not limited to:

the Group's actual and expected financial results;

o the general economic conditions and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Company;

o the Company’s business operation strategy, including expected
working capital requirements, capital expenditure requirements and
future expansion plans;

o the Company's liquidity position;
o retained earnings and distributable profit reserves of the Company;

o the contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends imposed by
the Company's lenders and other institutions; and

o any other factors that the Board considers to be applicable from time
to time.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend distribution
proportion or distribution ratio. The declaration, payment and amount of
dividends will be subject to the Board’'s discretion. The Board will review
the Dividend Policy on a regular basis.
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After considering the Dividend Policy, the Directors have resolved to
recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK0.39 cent per ordinary
share of the Company in respect of the year (2021: HK0.54 cent per
ordinary share) subject to the approval of the shareholders at the
forthcoming AGM of the Company. The total amount of final dividend is
expected to be approximately HK$23.26 million and to be paid on Friday,
21 July 2023. Further details of the final dividend are set out in the sub-
section headed "RESULTS AND DIVIDEND" in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report and note 12
to the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group for the year are set out in notes 14
and 15 to the financial statements respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 33 to the
financial statements.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group for the year are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 83 to 84
of this annual report.

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company for the year are
set out in note 35 to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had approximately
HK$178,993,000 distributable reserves as calculated under sections 291,
297 and 299 of the Companies Ordinance (as at 31 December 2021:
HK$172,378,000).

DONATIONS

The Group did not make any monetary donation for charitable purpose
during the year (2021: HK$274,000).
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BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year, the Group is principally engaged in leasing, bulk
commodity trade, property development and investment, and marine
recreation services and hotel.

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year, an analysis of
the Group's performance using financial key performance indicators, and
an indication of likely future developments of the Group's business are
set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 6 to 25 of this annual report. These discussions form part of this
directors’ report. There are no important events affecting the Group that
have occurred since the end of the year.

In addition, description of the major risks and uncertainties faced by
the Group, the Group’s compliance with relevant laws and regulations,
discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and performance, and
the Group's relationships with its key employees, customers and suppliers
are also provided in the following sub-sections of this directors’ report.

Major Risks and Uncertainties

The results and business operations of the Group may be affected by
various factors. The major risks and uncertainties are summarised as
follows:

A Leasing

As the Group continues to grow its leasing business, the Group
may expand into new industries for new projects and customers.
However, there may be uncertainties about the development of
the Group's leasing business due to COVID-19 or other infectious
diseases, external economic environment, and changes to relevant
laws and industry regulatory policies in the PRC. Besides, there is
a rising credit risk in terms of the Group's leased assets portfolio
due to the active development of the Group's leasing business,
which may affect the Group's profitability. In the future, the Group
will continue to explore opportunities to work with state-owned
enterprises and optimise the risk level of its leased assets portfolio
S0 as to maintain the overall business risk under control.

I/ Bulk Commodity Trade

Bulk commodity trading prices are affected by international and
domestic markets. Once there is a drastic volatility in prices, the
profitability of the Group may be affected. In the future, the Group
will increase its effort in securing upstream and downstream
partners for bulk commodity trade and improve business and
management models to reduce risks. COVID-19 or other infectious
diseases may have negative impacts on bulk commodity trade in
respect of supply chain disruptions and increase in transportation
costs but the overall business risk is manageable.
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Property Development and Investment

"CCT-Champs-Elysees” is the remaining property development
project held by the Group which is located in Zhucheng City,
Shandong Province, the PRC and possesses a good brand image.
The Group also maintained certain office premises for rental income.
However, the ongoing sales and/or leasing of the properties are
subject to property market sentiment, general economic condition
and the government policies in the PRC. As all the construction
works of the CCT-Champs-Elysees project have been completed and
the Group is phasing out from this existing property development
project, and the investment properties accounted for less than 1%
of the Group’s total assets, the overall risks associated with the
business are not significant.

Marine Recreation Services and Hotel

The operation of the marine recreation services and hotel business
is subject to, among others, the environmental protection policies,
weather conditions and public hygiene conditions. Adverse
weather conditions may affect the number of business days and
the profitability of tourism activities. The operation is facing a lot of
challenges, and the Group will actively pursue the restructuring of
marine recreation services and hotel business.

Economy

During the year, the world continued to be struck by subsequent
waves of COVID-19 variants, leading to closures and lockdowns in
many advanced economies. The everchanging and radical shifts in
the business environment and disruption of global supply chains,
as well as the worldwide climbing interest and inflation rates will
adversely impact on the global economy. The businesses of the
Group are concentrated in the PRC. Though the PRC loan interest
rates remained relatively stable during the year and only had a slight
impact on the Group's loan interest expenses, assets and liabilities
denominated in RMB held by the Group in Hong Kong are exposed
to foreign currency exchange risk. The fluctuation of exchange rate
and the adjustment of loan interest rate in the future may have an
impact on the performance of the Group. Although foreign currency
and interest rate have not posed significant risks to the Group, and
the Group does not currently have any hedging measures against
such exchange and interest rate risks, the Group will continue to
closely monitor the risks which may arise from such currency and
interest rate fluctuation.
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Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group constantly monitored the operation of its principal businesses
in the PRC and elsewhere to ensure compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations.

I Leasing

During the year and up to the date of this directors’ report, the Group
has been in compliance in all material respects with the laws and
regulations in the PRC that have a significant impact on its finance
leasing business, including the Civil Code of the People's Republic
of China (Order No.45 of the President of the People's Republic
of China), the Interpretations of the Supreme People’s Court on
Issues relating to the Application of Laws in the Trial of Disputes
over Finance Lease (Court Interpretation 2020 No. 17), and judicial
interpretations, other regulations, local regulations and regulatory
documents issued or promulgated according to or in relation to
these laws and regulations. These laws and regulations aim to
protect the legitimate rights and interests of the contractual parties,
maintain social and economic order, guide the business activities of
the finance leasing industry, promote the economic development
of the finance leasing services, and guide the judicial authorities on
hearing the contractual disputes in respect of finance leasing.

/A Bulk Commodity Trade

During the year, the bulk commodity trade business of the Group
mainly comprised international trading of chemical products and
steel with enterprises in Hong Kong, the PRC and oversea countries
including but not limited to Singapore and Thailand. There were no
particular licence, permit or approval requirements for the operation
of the Group's international bulk commodity trade business in these
jurisdictions and there were no regulatory restrictions, such as
quota restrictions and/or import and export licensing restrictions,
on the trading activities of the Group in these jurisdictions. During
the year and up to the date of this directors’ report, the Group
has been in compliance in all material respects with the laws and
regulations in the PRC, Hong Kong, Singapore and other countries,
as well as the relevant national and industrial standards of quality of
chemical products and steel that have a significant impact on its bulk
commodity trade business.
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Property Development and Investment

During the year and up to the date of this directors’ report, the
Group has been in compliance in all material respects with the
laws and regulations in the PRC that have a significant impact on
its property development and investment businesses, including the
Law on the Administration of Urban Real Estate of the People's
Republic of China (Order No. 32 of the President of the People's
Republic of China), the Law on Land Administration of the People’s
Republic of China (Order No. 32 of the President of the People's
Republic of China), the Law on Urban and Rural Planning of the
People's Republic of China (Order No. 29 of the President of the
People’'s Republic of China), the Administrative Regulations on
Development and Operation of Urban Real Estate (Order No. 710
of the State Council of the People’s Republic of China), and judicial
interpretations, other regulations, local regulations and regulatory
documents issued or promulgated according to or in relation to these
laws and regulations. These laws and regulations aim to strengthen
the management of urban real estate, maintain the order of real
estate market, protect the legitimate rights and interests of the
parties interested in the real estate, and regulate the infrastructure
and housing construction on the state-owned land within the urban
planning area as well as the transfer of real estate development
projects or the sale or leasing of commercial flats conducted by real
estate development enterprises.

Marine Recreation Services and Hotel

The Group is also engaged in marine recreation services and hotel
business in Hainan Province, the PRC. During the year and up to
the date of this directors’ report, the Group has been in compliance
in all material respects with the laws and regulations in the PRC
that have a significant impact on its marine recreation services and
hotel business, including the Tourism Law of the People’s Republic
of China (Order No. 16 of the President of the People's Republic of
China), the Law on Maritime Traffic Safety of the People’s Republic
of China (Order No. 79 of the President of the People’s Republic
of China), the Administrative Measures for Public Security in the
Hotel Industry (Order No. 752 of the State Council of the People's
Republic of China), and judicial interpretations, other regulations,
local regulations and regulatory documents issued or promulgated
according to or in relation to these laws and regulations. These
laws and regulations aim to protect the legitimate rights and
interests of the tourists and the operators of the tourism activities,
maintain the order of the tourism market, and specify the rules
governing operators of the hotel industry, vessels, seamen and
operators that sail, berth and operate in coastal area of the PRC, the
relevant supervision and management system and the standards of
punishment.
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The Group has established various management systems to ensure the
compliance with laws and regulations applicable to the Group's businesses
and operations through measures such as internal control and staff
training. As at 31 December 2022 and the date of this directors’ report, no
material breach of laws and regulations that has a material impact on the
Group's business and operation during the year was noted by the Group.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is mindful of the impact of environmental factors on its long-
term development and therefore has actively formulated various corporate
development strategies related to energy conservation and environmental
protection. During the year, the Group established the ESG Committee to
further strengthen and monitor significant matters relating to ESG issues
and to develop, formulate and implement environmental management
policies and measures, such as water and electricity conservation,
wastewater treatment and reduction of air pollutants and waste emissions
corresponding to different business aspects, so as to minimise the
negative impact on the environment during the business operation and
commit to implementing sustainable development.

In order to reduce the negative impact of the supply chain on the
environment, the Group will give priority to purchasing environmentally-
friendly materials. In addition, we have incorporated environmental
protection requirements into contract clauses, and requested our
contractors and suppliers to strictly comply with the relevant requirements
of environmental protection when performing their contractual obligations
so as to promote the sharing of responsibility for sustainable development
in the supply chain. In the future, the Group will continue to improve
its environmental policies to enhance the Group's performance in
environmental protection.

Further details of the Group's environmental policies and performance,
together with the relevant key performance indicators, are set out in the
ESG report of the Company in compliance with the provisions set out in
the ESG Reporting Guide in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules.

Key Relationship with Customers and Suppliers

The Group understands that it is important to maintain good relationship
with customers and provide them with quality products and services.
The Group enhances the relationship through continuous interaction with
customers to gain insight on the changing market demand so that the
Group can respond proactively. The Group actively listens to the views
of its customers and has established various communication channels to
strengthen its communication with customers to collect their opinions,
while establishing a system in place to protect customers’ privacy.

Directors’ Report
EFEEHRE

AEBFDEYRBEESE  WRBRGFERE
BTHIFZEER  BRETEAEBEER R
LEMBOERNER - BE_T-__F+_H
=+ ARAEZEHERY  AEELTNE
AERFREREAEENEBRZEEREAT
EMEMERIERNER -

REBRRRE

488

AEERARRARECEREBROTZE
IR ) E AR BEIRIRAR B D SR R AR o
REE  AEBEKILRE #HENERE
€ NE—TFNEREREHAERE  HERER
BENBEAFE  SHYIRAEKEE - HIE LR
THENRZEERRLER - WEHLKE )5
KEE - BLERSRMNERZMHRS - UE
ERLEBEETHRRELNBEZE B
BITARERR -

m 7% T

\

AREHERBHERBELNARYE  A5EE
BEZERBRERME - 1IN HMADHRRE
SRKIAANB KGR BERAZB RHERRETS
HWEERBEBETABENRRER - AEESHH
A RAE A FHBERREME - EARRNATF
AEEFFETERERE - URAAEENR
RER -

AEBENRBEBRRERANE—FSFHE - ERB
RARRARUERR - REBE L HARAMER270IRE -
& RERME S| I RN AR A AR

BHERERREA -
HEFRMHUEFNEREE

AEEROETPHISRIFAE  UARAEPRR
HEANERRBRBENEEN - AEEREBEET
FORHELS BB THMSEHER  EEEH
S8 AEEEBREREFNER  XRIE
RBERE AR EEFNEBANREREN
BR AEELRETFERALNGIE

China Chengtong Development Group Limited FEIFEZEEEBR AT 59



Directors’ Report
EFREHRE

During the year, the aggregate amount of revenue attributable to the
five largest customers represented approximately 48% of the Group's
consolidated revenue and they were from the bulk commodity trade
business. Sales to the largest customer accounted for approximately 32%
of the Group's consolidated revenue. Two of the five largest customers
have established trading relationship with the Group for a period ranging
from 1 to 2 years and the remaining three commenced trading with the
Group during the year. The Directors consider that there is no significant
risk associated with reliance on major customers given the size and
the high fragmentation of the bulk commodity trade market. During the
year, credit period of 0 to 30 days was granted to customers of bulk
commodity trade business (2021: 0—-30 days). As at 31 December 2022,
trade receivables of the Group was approximately HK$21.64 million
(2021: approximately HK$30.06 million). The Directors are of the view
that the amount can be fully recovered notwithstanding a loss allowance
of approximately HK$19,000 (2021: approximately HK$1,000) was made
against the trade receivables. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are regularly reviewed
by senior management.

The Group is also dedicated to maintaining good relationship with suppliers
and contractors as long-term business partners to ensure stability of the
Group's business. In addition, the Group has established a strict supplier
management and evaluation system to control procurement risks and
costs.

During the year, the aggregate amount of purchases (which means the
amount of purchases included in the costs of sale but does not include
purchases of items which are of a capital nature) attributable to the
five largest suppliers represented approximately 32% of the Group's
total purchases. Purchases from the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 11% of the Group's total purchases. The five largest
suppliers came from the bulk commodity trade business and three of
them have established trading relationship with the Group for a period
ranging from 1 to 2 years, and the remaining two commenced trading
with the Group during the year. As at 31 December 2022, trade payables
of the Group was approximately HK$192.78 million (2021: approximately
HK$1.30 million), which will be due within one year. The Group has
formulated supplier engagement practices that regulate the procurement
and/or bidding procedures for suppliers and has established supplier
evaluation system to evaluate suppliers from different perspectives such
as enterprise qualifications, industry goodwill, financial condition and
performance of contracts etc. The Directors consider that there is no
significant risk associated with reliance on major suppliers.

None of the Directors, their close associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) and any shareholders which to the best knowledge of the Directors
owned more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital had any
interest in the Group's five largest customers or suppliers during the year.
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Human Resources and Emolument Policy

The Group firmly believes that employees are important assets and
essential to its long-term success. The Group has therefore established
respective human resources systems and implemented people-oriented
personnel policies and created an ideal career platform for employees, in
order to attract more talents and build an outstanding team. The systems
cover policies which include, but are not limited to, recruitment, promotion,
dismissal, position adjustment, working hour, remuneration and staff
benefits, attendance, performance management and appraisal and code
of conduct. The Group encourages and has enhanced communication with
the employees through meetings, performance evaluation and intranet.
The Group is obliged to protect employees’ rights, to provide appropriate
staff development and training, and safe and healthy work environment so
to enhance the Group’s sustainable development.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed a total of 269 full-time
and part-time employees (as at 31 December 2021: 274), of which 11
(as at 31 December 2021: 7) were based in Hong Kong and 258 (as at 31
December 2021: 267) were based in the PRC. During the year, the total
staff costs of the Group (including directors’ emoluments and provident
funds) were approximately HK$83.52 million. Employee’s remunerations
are determined in accordance with their experiences, competence,
qualifications, nature of duties, and current market trend. Apart from
basic salary, discretionary bonus and other incentives are offered to
employees of the Group to reward their performance and contributions.
The emoluments of the Directors are determined having regard to the
Company'’s corporate goals, the individual performance of the Directors
and their role and position (if any) in the group members of CCHG, the
ultimate holding company of the Company.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (“Share Option
Scheme”) under which the Company may grant options to the directors
and eligible employees of the Group to subscribe for shares of the
Company. The Company also had a share award scheme (“Share Award
Scheme”), under which shares of the Company could be awarded, with
the approval of the Board, to selected employees and directors of the
Group to recognise their contribution and to give them incentives thereto
in order to retain them for the continual operation, as well as to attract
suitable personnel for the growth and further development of the Group.
The Share Award Scheme has expired on 30 June 2022 and is currently
under review. Details of the Share Option Scheme and the Share Award
Scheme are set out in the section headed "Equity-linked Agreements” in
this directors’ report.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and as at the date of this directors’ report
are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. ZHANG Bin (Chairman)
Mr. YANG Tianzhou (Managing Director)
Mr. Gu Honglin (appointed with effect from 23 December 2022)

Non-executive Director

Mr. WANG Daxiong (appointed with effect from 1 July 2022, and
resigned with effect from 11 January 2023)

The Board expresses its sincere gratitude to Mr. Wang Daxiong for his
past participation in the Board.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Professor CHANG Qing
Mr. LEE Man Chun, Tony
Professor HE Jia

The biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 26 to 29 of this
annual report.

Detailed information of the Directors standing for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM of the Company will be set out in the circular in
relation to the forthcoming AGM to be despatched to the shareholders.
No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has an
unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

The Company has received from each of the existing independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant
to the Listing Rules and considers that each independent non-executive
Director is independent of the Company.

There was no arrangement under which a Director waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments during the year.
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DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year and as at the date of this directors’ report, the directors of
the Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong and British Virgin
Islands included Yang Tianzhou, Cui Lixia, Yu Xiongwei, Qi Hang, Yao
Yanli, Li Rui, Liu Wendong, Zhang Chuangyi, Ma Nan and Wang Tianlin.

During the year and as at the date of this directors’ report, the directors
of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries included Zhang Bin, Yang Tianzhou,
Yu Xiongwei, Zhang Chuanyi, Li Rui, Yan Ling, Jiang Wenjie and Huang
Maozhu.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Subject to the applicable laws, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities which he may sustain or incur in the execution of his duties or
otherwise in relation thereto pursuant to the Articles of Association of the
Company. Such provisions were in force during the course of the year and
remained in force as of the date of this directors’ report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the
Company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party, and in which a Director (including any person who at any time
during the year was a Director) or an entity connected with a Director
had material interest (whether directly or indirectly), was entered into or
subsisted at any time during the year.

COMPETING INTEREST

During the year, none of the Directors and their respective close
associates had any business or interests in business which competes or
is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into or
existed during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the Directors and chief executive of the
Company who had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code are as follows:

Long Position

EERTRAREFEARG - AEKRH
REZZEBERAR

RZZEZZF+ZA=+—0 ' ARRESRE
ZITBABRARBISEEE ZE(EERLEFH
MEREARBIEXVER) 2 I - HER D REFHE
EREBLRBEKEHFEIIANFATFFEEZERL
fhatss - B BIRETRIE ST AR B R b
RETZ SRR T ¢

BR

Approximate
percentage of
issued share

capital as at

Interests in the Company or Number of 31 December

Name of Director its associated corporation Nature of interest  Class of shares shares 2022

R-EBE-__F

+=H=+—-H

WIEB BT

EENE RAQATREEH LZEMOER  BEaiE R E 5B REE i NEL

Zhang Bin The Company Beneficial owner Ordinary 314,642 0.01%

o X /NS EmEAA i

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors & EXFIEEEN R - —F+_-_A=+—

or the chief executive of the Company had any interest or short position
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
that was required to be recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, so far as was known to the Directors, the
following persons, other than the Directors or chief executive of the
Company, had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 336 of the SFO:

Long Position
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Approximate
percentage of
issued share
capital of the
Company as at

Number of 31 December
Name of shareholder Nature of interest Class of shares shares 2022
R-—ZEE-—
+=—A=+—H
ERITRABTALE
BREER ERMEE % 17 38 Bl BRoOEE FR R NN
CCHK Beneficial owner (Note) Ordinary 3,169,656,217 53.14%
EREESE BEmEB AN 7 Eim
CCHG Interest in controlled corporation  Ordinary 3,169,656,217 53.14%
T AR (Note) Eim
RiEhEE (7 57)
Note: The entire issued share capital of CCHK is beneficially owned by CCHG. Under the  ffzF @ BUBE B2 2 MO BT AHR BN EXEHES -

SFO, CCHG is deemed to be interested in all the shares of the Company held by
CCHK.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, so far as was known
to the Directors, no other person, other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company, had any interest or short position in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into by the Company
during the year or subsisting at the end or at any time of the year are set
out below:

Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the AGM of the Company held
on 27 June 2013, the Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme
which shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing on
the date it was adopted and will end on 26 June 2023. The purpose of the
Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards to participants
thereunder for their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group
to recruit and retain high-caliber employees and attract human resources
that are valuable to the Group and any invested entity.

Under the terms of the Share Option Scheme, eligible participants of the
Share Option Scheme include (a) any employee (whether full time or part
time, including any executive director but excluding any non-executive
director) of, or any individual for the time being seconded to work for, the
Company, any subsidiary or any entity in which any member of the Group
holds any equity interest (“Invested Entity”) or any employee or officer
of the controlling shareholder of the Company; (b) any non-executive
director (including independent non-executive directors) of the Company,
any subsidiary of the Company or any Invested Entity; (c) any suppliers
of goods or services to any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;
(d) any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity; (e) any person or
entity that provides research, development or other technological support
to the Group or any Invested Entity; (f) any shareholder of any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued
or proposed to be issued by any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity; (g) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to the
Group relating to any area of business or business development of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and (h) any joint venture or
business partner of the Group who have contributed or may contribute to
the development and growth of the Group. Following the amendments to
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules which came into effect on 1 January 2023,
the Company will only grant options to such eligible participants which are
permitted under the Listing Rules.
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Ordinary shares of the Company may be allotted and issued upon the
exercise of the options granted under the Share Option Scheme. The total
number of shares of the Company which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date on which
the Share Option Scheme was adopted (ie. not exceeding 484,073,477
shares). As no share option has been granted under the Share Option
Scheme since its adoption, the number of options available for grant
under the existing scheme limit as at 1 January 2022 and 31 December
2022 and the maximum number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options that may be granted under the existing
scheme limit is 484,073,477 shares (representing approximately 8.12%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this annual
report). The maximum number of shares which may be allotted and issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued share capital of
the Company (or the subsidiaries) from time to time.

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme of the Group (including both exercised,
cancelled or outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company.
Any further grant of options in excess of such limit in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of such further grant shall be subject
to shareholders’ approval in general meeting of the Company with such
participant and his/her associates abstaining from voting.

An offer of the grant of an option under the Share Option Scheme may be
accepted within 21 days from the date of grant together with a remittance
of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof. An option may
be exercised during such period as the Board may in its absolute discretion
determine, save that such period shall not be more than 10 years from the
date of grant.

Unless the Directors otherwise determine and state in the offer to a
grantee, a grantee is not required to hold an option for any minimum
period nor achieve any performance targets before any options granted
under the Share Option Scheme can be exercised.

The subscription price for the shares of the Company on the exercise of
the option shall be determined at the discretion of the Board which shall
not be less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the Company's shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
grant; (ii) the average closing price of the Company's shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (i) the nominal value of the
Company’s shares (note).

Please refer to the circular of the Company dated 28 May 2013 for more
details of the Share Option Scheme.
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During the year, no option was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed
under the Share Option Scheme. There was no option outstanding at the
beginning and at the end of the year.

Note: Pursuant to the Companies Ordinance, which came into operation on 3 March
2014, the shares of the Company have ceased to have nominal value.

Share Award Scheme

The Share Award Scheme of the Company expired on 30 June 2022.
The purpose of the Share Award Scheme was to provide a means
to (i) recognise the contributions by certain full-time employees and
directors (including executive directors, non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors) of the Group selected by the Board
for participation in the Share Award Scheme (collectively, the “Selected
Employees”) and to give incentives to them for the continual operation
and development of the Group; and (i) attract suitable personnel for the
growth and further development of the Group.

Pursuant to the Share Award Scheme, shares of the Company could be
awarded, with the approval of the Board, to Selected Employees based on,
inter alia, their work performance and such other matters that the Board
considers relevant. Shares awarded under the Share Award Scheme could
be offered to the Selected Employees for no consideration but subject
to certain conditions (including vesting conditions) to be decided by the
Board at the time of grant of the shares awarded under the Share Award
Scheme. A Selected Employee should be entitled to receive the awarded
shares in accordance with the vesting schedule upon the Selected
Employee having satisfied all vesting conditions specified by the Board
at the time of making the award. Unless otherwise determined by the
Board at its absolute discretion, awarded shares and the related income
(if any) should vest in the Selected Employee on the first anniversary date
of the date of award, provided that the Selected Employee remained at all
times after the date of award and on the vesting date a full-time employee
or director of the Group. Vesting of the shares could also be conditional
on the execution of the relevant documents by the Selected Employee
to effect the transfer of the shares from the trustee of the Share Award
Scheme.

The Board should not make any further award which could result in the
total number of shares awarded by the Board under the Share Award
Scheme exceeding 1% of the total number of shares in issue of the
Company as at 1 July 2017 (being 58,087,347 shares, representing
approximately 0.97% of the issued shares of the Company as at the
date of this annual report). There was no maximum entitlement of each
participant under the Share Award Scheme. As no share award has been
granted under the Share Award Scheme since its adoption, the number of
awards available for grant under the Share Award Scheme as at 1 January
2022 was 58,087,347 shares. With the expiry of the Share Award Scheme
on 30 June 2022, no share award could be granted as at 31 December
2022.
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During the year, no share was purchased by the trustee for the purpose
of the Share Award Scheme and no award of share was granted under
the Share Award Scheme. As at the date of expiry of the Share Award
Scheme and the date of this annual report, the trustee was still holding
11,750,000 shares of the Company which were purchased for the purpose
of the Share Award Scheme. Such shares will be dealt with in due course.

Please refer to note 34(b) to the financial statements for more details of
the Share Award Scheme.

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year was the Company, or
any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 20 July 2022, the Company and CCHG entered into the finance lease
services framework agreement (“Framework Agreement”), pursuant to
which the relevant member of the Group (as lessor) will provide finance
lease services, in relation to certain leased assets to be selected, to the
relevant member of the CCHG group (as lessee) which comprises CCHG,
its subsidiaries and 30%-controlled companies but excluding the Group
and Chengtong World Trade Limited (“CCHG Group") by way of, including
but not limited to, sale and leaseback services and direct finance lease
services:

(i) under the sale and leaseback services, the relevant member of
the Group (as lessor) would purchase the leased assets from the
relevant member of the CCHG Group (as lessee) at a purchase price
(i.e. the principal amount), and then lease such leased assets to the
relevant member of the CCHG Group in return for lease payments;
and

(i) under the direct finance lease services, the relevant member of
the Group (as lessor) would purchase the leased assets from the
relevant supplier or seller pursuant to the instructions given by the
relevant member of the CCHG Group (as lessee), and then lease
such leased assets to the relevant member of the CCHG Group in
return for lease payments.

The relevant member(s) of the CCHG Group and the relevant member(s)
of the Group may from time to time enter into individual agreements
(“Individual Agreements”) in relation to the subject matters
contemplated under the Framework Agreement upon and subject to
the terms and conditions in compliance with those of the Framework
Agreement.
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The Framework Agreement is of a term effective from 8 September 2022,
being the date of approval of the same by the independent shareholders
of the Company at a general meeting, to 31 December 2024 (both days
inclusive), and the contract periods of the Individual Agreements are
expected to range from one year to six years.

The amount of lease payments to be received by the Group may be
calculated based on a fixed lease interest rate or a variable lease interest
rate linked to the LPRs, and shall be fair and reasonable, determined
after arm’s length negotiation between the relevant member of the
Group and the CCHG Group taking into account the prevailing market
conditions when the relevant Individual Agreement is entered into. The
lease payments shall be paid by the lessee during the lease term by
installments, which may be quarterly, semi-annually or otherwise, in the
manner to be specified in the relevant Individual Agreement.

The annual caps on the total principal and lease payments (taking into
account the aggregate amounts of interests and other payables (including
handling fees)) receivable by the Group for the transactions contemplated
under the Framework Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2022
and the years ending 31 December 2023 and 2024 are RMB500 million,
RMB1,021 million and RMB1,677 million respectively.

Further details of the Framework Agreement are set out in the
announcement and circular of the Company dated 20 July 2022 and 22
August 2022 respectively.

As at 31 December 2022, the total outstanding balance of the principal
and lease payments (taking into account the aggregate amounts of
interests and other payables (including handling fees)) receivable by the
Group for the transactions contemplated under the Framework Agreement
was approximately RMB399.48 million, and has not exceeded the above-
mentioned annual cap for the year ended 31 December 2022.

As at the date of the Framework Agreement, CCHG was interested in
approximately 53.14% of the total issued share capital of the Company
and was the ultimate holding company of the Company. Thus, CCHG was
a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules. As such, the
transactions contemplated under the Framework Agreement constituted
continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

The Company has established certain internal control and risk management
procedures to ensure that the continuing connected transactions with
the CCHG Group were conducted in accordance with the Framework
Agreement. All independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
continuing connected transactions with the CCHG Group and confirmed
that such transactions have been entered into:

(@) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
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(b)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(c) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them, and
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company's auditors, Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, was engaged
to report on the continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised),
“Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised),
"Auditor’'s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited has issued a letter containing
its conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions with
the CCHG Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The
Board has reviewed such letter and acknowledged that the auditors have
confirmed the following:

(@) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that
the continuing connected transactions with the CCHG Group have
not been approved by the Board,

(b)  for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the
Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the transactions were not, in all material respects, in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;

(c)  nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the transactions were not entered into, in all material respects,
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such
transactions; and

(d)  with respect to the aggregate amount of the transactions, nothing
has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
continuing connected transactions with the CCHG Group have
exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company.

A copy of the above auditors’ letter has been provided by the Company to
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rule 14A.57 of the Listing Rules.

The Directors confirm that the related party transactions during the year as
disclosed in note 36(a) to the financial statements fall under the definition
of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” (as the
case may be) in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Directors confirm
that the Company has, where applicable, complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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The Directors confirm that the related party transactions during the year
as disclosed in notes 36(b) and 36(c) to the financial statements do not fall
under the definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected
transaction” (as the case may be) in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above and in note 36(a) to the financial statements, (i)
no contract of significance was entered into by and/or subsisted between
the Group and the controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during
the year; and (ii) no contract of significance in relation to provision of
services by the controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries to the
Group was entered into and/or subsisted during the year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report,
based on information that was publicly available to the Company and to
the best knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirmed that the
Company had maintained sufficient public float as required under the
Listing Rules.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results and its assets and liabilities for the year
and the past four financial years is set out on pages 227 to 228 of this
annual report.

CHANGE OF AUDITORS

BDO Limited (“BDO") has resigned as the auditors of the Company
with effect from 25 November 2022. With the recommendation of the
Audit Committee, the Board has resolved to appoint Baker Tilly Hong
Kong Limited as the new auditors of the Company with effect from 25
November 2022 to fill the casual vacancy arising from the resignation
of BDO and to hold office until the conclusion of the next AGM of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other change in the auditors of the
Company in any of the preceding three years.
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AUDITORS ZEE

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year have  AEE Z AR F4RA P BREL KBE L S0
been audited by Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited. EHMERARIEZ o

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM of the Company to ~ REIE BN AQAFBRERAEAE Fi5IE2—8
re-appoint Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited as auditors of the Company. Rk WEFZERBEASHMEEMBRA
RIBA R B EREN

By order of the Board AEEED

Zhang Bin FE

Chairman R

Hong Kong, 8 March 2023 BB —E-_=F=ANH
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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@ ? bakertilly
X B %

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA CHENGTONG DEVELOPMENT GROUP
LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

i

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Chengtong Development Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 79
to 224, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code"”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

HEEER

Independent Auditor’s Report
BIURMENES

BRETER

MRETFHRERERMNERAE - BA/YHA
ARGV B RENBARSERNTH - 5L
FERERMEAERGEAMBREANHAER
RETTRER - HMTeHELRRIEHEBMD
BRo

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RIETEARNTEEREEZSE

Impairment assessment of finance lease receivables and loans receivable

BMEHSRUEAERERER 2T ERE

We identified the impairment assessment of finance lease
receivables and loans receivable as a key audit matter due
to the significance of finance lease receivables and loans
receivable to the consolidated financial statements as a whole
and the use of judgement and estimates by management in
assessing the recoverability of finance lease receivables and
loans receivable.

AT & A R IE R R K R R B AT o Bl A B g
FBFEE - DARBEMERKFIEREKREFE GRS WG
WEEEMSBEEN  HERERTAHEEERYGRIER
JE LS 35 A BT U [0 1k B {5 R S T e T o

Management performed periodic assessment on the
recoverability of the finance lease receivables and loans
receivable and the sufficiency of impairment loss allowance
based on information including credit profile of the borrowers,
historical settlement records, subsequent settlement status,
ageing of the finance lease receivables and loans receivable,
value of the collaterals and expected timing and amount
of realisation of outstanding balances. Management also
considered forward-looking information that may impact the
ability of the borrowers to repay the outstanding balances
in order to estimate the expected credit losses for the
impairment assessment.
EREBERBERAZGEEER  BEERLHE  HEEX
RS - BE T E MR R R E T2 BR i~ IR m EE A
RERREELAHAZEHAREAEEEHTERERERERK
FIEREREREEAIME REERREESTRH - B8
BREEARETEBERNEEREREER N ZRIELEE
B DMEEORERM 2 ERE B EE -

As set out in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements,
as at 31 December 2022, the Group had gross finance
lease receivables and loans receivable of approximately
HK$8,234,077,000 and impairment loss allowance of
approximately HK$16,503,000.

AR A B R A 21 R = F A=+ —
H: ESEOREHEEIGRIEREREREENREE
8,234,077,0007T K s B 5 15 B 40 & 78 #516,503,0007T °

Our procedures in relation to the management’s impairment
assessment on finance lease receivables and loans receivable
included:

HAIBEE IR I I mhE T S e R IE K e B R R E R A
TZEFELE :

o obtaining an understanding of the Group's expected
credit loss policy and methodology for impairment
assessment;

TR BESECEHEEEERELREBENRERNEA
b

o reviewing the reasonableness of management’s
estimation in expected timing of collection and
the credit quality of individual borrowers, including
the background of the borrowers and their credit
worthiness, collection history and value of collaterals;

and
B EREEHAMKRFKERERNBERAZEEERZ
EE(BEERAZERRESE  WREHFRERRE
BERAEE: &

° checking the accuracy of the ageing classification of the

finance lease receivables and loans receivable balances
on a sampling basis.

Mz ERE R EREYGRIE REWE &R 2R DA
B LERE o
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WIBEDEE

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2021 were audited by another auditor who expressed an
unmodified opinion on those statements on 4 March 2022.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

76 2022 Annual Report FERE

Htt=H

EEEEE T —F+_A=+—HIFEHN
REUMBHRER D — BB EZ - ZZEER
—E-—FZAVNAMZSEREREREREE
ﬁ,o

Hit 58

BERREFAHEMEEARERET - HLEEE
RBRFEREZEE  ETERREMBHRE
R 2 BB E o

B GEMBHRRIELZEEL BREEMD
B MBEMIEHEMESERREMTA ZZE

= A
4 o

B T

E=113

SEPIFRAMBERERME - HAZEERMHA
BEMES - tMEEEMEEREREEMT
BRIBPEFHERT A THROBEAFEEKR
T IUFHEFEERBRFL - WERPER
BETZ TIFR/EME B HIRENERRAL -
BAAREEMTE - 57| RFVBEMA

WE -

ESNERERGEMBHRRAEE
ZEE

BERRERAAERBEEEGIMAGRM2E
BUBREEARBBRRAGE  REREBEQF
ZERMBRE  REFETHREGAMBER
REBBEZEAANGEE  MEZFRA MR
RTEHFERRRFSERMEBMZ EXHRR

it o

NREEUREMBHRERE - EFa8Mh E5E
ZIEERER N THEERBER T RERFEL
LEMCER  UREARELESERTER
BRIFEEFAER BEREFBRIUELEE - X5
BEMERERITER -

ERERAREE BESEIMBHREERE -



Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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BIAKMETERE

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matter communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine this matter that was of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and is therefore
the key audit matter. We describe this matter in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wan Wing Ping.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 8 March 2023

Wan Wing Ping

Practising Certificate Number P07471
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
RERax
For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —Z - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E-= T4
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
=3 BT T BT IT
Revenue ¥R 5 1,277,390 1,172,679
Costs of revenue Weasp A (1,025,044) (900,373)
Gross profit and net interest income EMNRANEWANEEE 252,346 272,306
Other income and gains, net H A ka5 eE 7 24,829 29,088
Selling expenses HEEH (12,528) (15,943)
Administrative expenses THER (120,617) (107,622)
Fair value loss on investment properties "EME 2 AT EEE 15 (6,238) (1,656)
Finance costs BhE R AR 8 (15,561) (6,361)
Profit before tax R A 2 A 122,231 169,812
Income tax expense Fris i F sz 9 (44,943) (64,120)
Profit for the year FREF 10 77,288 105,692

Profit for the year attributable to: EEFRER
Owners of the Company VIN/NEIE Z=WN 76,066 104,222
Non-controlling interests FEPERR 1,222 1,470
77,288 105,692

Earnings per share BRER

- Basic and diluted - BEAREE 13 HK1.28 cents &1l  HK1.78 cents /&1l
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

FERZREtEZERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE2—Z - —F+_A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—EC-CHE —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Profit for the year FREF 77,288 105,692
Other comprehensive (expense)/income  Ht2mE (BI%)
Items that will not be reclassified to BAAEHIEE
profit or loss: B#E2EE
Net change in fair value of equity BAFEFAREMEE
investments at fair value through other WM IEE W
comprehensive income NEEFE (11,526) 7,031
Revaluation surplus upon transfer of BRYMEEBIREYER
owner-occupied properties to investment KB G A R
properties - 3,970
Item that may be reclassified to AREEHIEEBRR2ER
profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on translation — #r& 25| & ¥ E A
to presentation currency MEH %8 (240,005) 63,165
Total comprehensive (expense)/income FRZE(FEX),
for the year &t (174,243) 179,858
Total comprehensive (expense)/income  EMZ2HE (FIX%),/
attributable to: W4 5E
Owners of the Company PIN/NETEZEDN (175,465) 178,388
Non-controlling interests FEEIR M A 1,222 1,470
(174,243) 179,858
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
REeEMERAE

As at 31 December2022 R —ZE - —F+-HA=+—H

2022 2021
—E-= —T-—fF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
k=3 BETFT BT T
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE RFE 14 702,054 307,371
Investment properties EMHE 15 85,096 99,255
Deposits paid [EENE&n 17 - 1,015
Finance lease receivables and loans Bh A T & MR &
receivable JEME X 21 4,989,666 3,911,695
Other financial assets HivemEE 23 8,477 11,658
Loans to related parties BRTYBEFER 22 - 36,600
Deferred tax assets REBIHEE 32 3,958 =
5,789,251 4,367,594
Current assets REBEE
Properties held for sale FEHEWZE 18 63,927 130,438
Properties under development BRPWME 18 182,767 143,793
Inventories FE 19 6,861 23,332
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H A pE R IE 20 108,326 79,888
Finance lease receivables and loans B A TH & IR &
receivable e E X 21 3,227,908 1,953,411
Loans to related parties BYBEFER 22 33,900 12,200
Other financial assets HtemEE 23 60,706 69,850
Tax recoverable BEEEE 1,528 2,628
Pledged bank deposits SR ITER 25 61,709 4,413
Bank balances and cash RITHEGERR S 25 472,852 1,380,259
4,220,484 3,800,212
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 &k A ERMFRIE 26 642,761 373,265
Contract liabilities aR&E 27 139,246 136,724
Lease liabilities HEAE 28 3,874 3,098
Tax payables FERT B IR 25,699 35,622
Bank borrowings RITIEE 29 1,969,931 1,374,675
Asset-backed securities BEIRES 30 1,472,916 1,267,068
Unsecured other loan IR EMER 31 600 600
Loans from related parties REBEFER 22 101,700 47,556
4,356,727 3,238,608
Net current (liabilities)/assets B (AR, EEFE (136,243) 561,604
Total assets less current liabilities wEERTRBARS 5,653,008 4,929,198
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
REMBERAE

As at 31 December 2022 W =—E-—F+=-A=+—H

2022 2021
—E-= T4
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
23 BT T BT T
Non-current liabilities FREBEE

Lease liabilities HEAE 28 4,399 =
Bank borrowings RITEE 29 1,197,074 67,100
Asset-backed securities BESRES 30 1,229,353 1,665,539
Loans from related parties REBERER 22 237,300 =
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE 32 49,632 54,857
2,717,758 1,787,496
Net assets EERE 2,935,250 3,141,702

Capital and reserves B R # B 33
Share capital A& s 2,214,624 2,214,624
Reserves & 712,305 919,979
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ZNA &HEA A (G 2 2,926,929 3,134,603
Non-controlling interests B £ 8,321 7,099
Total equity R 2,935,250 3,141,702

The consolidated financial statements on pages 79 to 224 were approved  $79E 2248 7 iz A B &R 2 1202343 5 8H
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 8 March 2023 and  HES@HERFELEIT  WHUTESREKE

are signed on its behalf by: FERE
Zhang Bin Yang Tianzhou
IR HEM
Director Director
EF EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FAREGEDRE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —Z - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

Equity attrbutable to owners of the Company

LG LN o 2
Financial
assets at
fair
value
Employee ~~ through
Shares held share- other
for share based  comprefiensive Non-
Share Capital ~ Statutory award compensation ~ income  Revaluation  Exchange  Retained controling
capital  reserve  reserve  scheme  reseve  reseve  eSenve  Ieseve profits— Subdotal  interests Total
RATE
HAR
BROER RN 2EkE
dEE  MRE 28R
Be  EnbE  ZEBR  Rh MeBR AEER  EMRE  EXRR  RERH it FEkER aif
000 SO0 HKSODD  HKSO0D  HKSORD HKSOD  HKSOD HKSOD  HKSO0 HKSOO0 HKSOO0 HKSOWO
ATr  B¥Tr BT BEfr B¥n BETr B¥Tn BETn BT Bgtn BTn B
At1 January 2021 RZE=-E-F-B 2185876 2816 9113 (6,494) 702 (133568) - [740) 80517 2979640 5609 2,985,269
Profit for the year EmigAl - - - - - - - - 10422 1022 1470 105,69
Other comprehensive income: A RENE
Exchange dfferences aising on translation TS| EMEL 7
fo presentation currency EXEE - - - = > > - B8 - BI6 - 66
Net change in fair value of financia assets ~ RATFBAFALf
atfairvalue through oher comprehensive.  2ENEZSREE
income ZATEREY - - - - - - = - Im - W
Revaluation surplus upon transfer of owner- BB MIEEERENE
occupied properties to investment properties ~ BE1E(ERS - - - - - -3 - -390 S Y
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ EAZEAREHE = = = = 1] 390 8316 10422 17838 1470 179888
Dividend paid BRE - - - - - - - SR VAVK I VAVK] - BRI
Shares issued as serip dividends HERSRORE
fhotes 1240 33) (Hit1ok3s) 1878 = = = = = = g - B - B8
Appropriation to statutory reserve ERTiehE = -1 = > > S - 13 - - -
At 31 December 2021 Hg=-f
tZB=t-A 214,604 2814 110416 (6,494 702 (126)537) 3970 15745 919363 3134603 709 3141702

China Chengtong Development Group Limited F BB R EBERA T
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
RAREGEHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE2—Z - —F+_A=+—HILFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

KORREARS2RR

Financial

assets at

fair value

Employee  through

Shares held share- other

General ~ for share based  comprehensive Non-
Share  Capital  Statutory risk award compensafion ~income Revaluation  Exchange  Retained controlling
capital  reserve  reseve  reserve  scheme  reseve  reseve  reserve  reseve profits  Subfotal interests Total
BAYE
AR
BRAGZE URORN  2ENE
-kBE itEEE  NER 28R
Be  EARE  iRRE BE  <RE  MeRE HEBR  EMER ENRE REM Mt FERES At
HKS000  HKSO0D  HKSOD  HKSU00  HKSUOD  HKSORD  HKSU00  HKSUOD  HKSORD  HKSU00  HKSUOD  HKSOMD  HKSUOO
i E¥Fr BB BETn BETn BEFn BB BETn BETn BBFn BB BETn B
At 1 January 2022 kbt
-A-A 2214624 2814 110416 - (6,494) 02 (126531) 3910 15,745 919363 3,134,603 7099 3,141,702
Profitor the year ERgH - - - - - = = = - 6066 76066 122 71288
Other comprehensive expenses: EpRERL:
Exchange differences aising on translatin T8 27| EKEA
fo presentation currency LERER = = = = = = = - (240,005) - (240,008) - (240,005)
Net change nfarvalug o financialassets ~ ATFEFAZH
atfairvalue through other comprehensiie.  2EMEZ
income fREEL
ATEFED - - - - - - (1152 - - - (1152) - (1152)
Total comprehensive (expenselfincome ~ ER2E(HR)/
for the year WREE = . = - - - (15 - (0005 6066 (175465) 1222 (174243)
Dividend paid Bftike - - - - - - - - - (3229 (32209 - (32,209
Appropriation to statutory reserve ERTIREE = - 1645 = = = = = - (164%) = > =
Appropriation to general isk reserve ERz-RERGE S S - 989 = = e = - (918%) = = =
At 31 December 2022 W%k
tZR=1-A 2214624 2814 1269M 91,899 (6,494) 702 (138,063) 3910 (24260) 854826 2926929 8321 2,935,250
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
ﬁ = EE ﬁ m 2= §

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —Z - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—Eg-= — T4
Notes HK$°000 HK$ 000
i3 BETTT BT T
Operating activities RESER
Profit before tax R 351 A1 Ve A 122,231 169,812
Adjustments for: FLATIER FHEE
Interest income FEUWA 7 (16,702) (15,431)
Dividend income =N ON 7 (63) -
Interest expense FERZ 8 171,108 64,209
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENR 8 224 255
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - B KREE
equipment e 10 39,991 42,938
Fair value loss on investment properties &Y 2 A FEEIE 15 6,238 1,656
Fair value gain on other financial assets EAFEFABRED
measured at fair value through profit HihEmEE
or loss (“FVTPL") 2N ERE 7 - (161)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and LEYE - BE MEE
equipment 2 1B 10 342 5
Gain on disposal of investment HEREME 2 W
properties 7 (1,786) (360)
Impairment loss on financial assets, net & @& E Z R EEIEFEE 10 4,605 11,831
Operating cash flows before Rt EELEHAKE
movements in working capital ReERE 326,188 274,754
Increase in properties under development 25 f& 2 4 3£ 1 A0 (50,893) (48,098)
Decrease in properties held for sale BEHEWER D 58,399 52,654
Decrease/(increase) in inventories HFERD (g m) 16,144 (18,468)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and B 5 & H At FE SR IE
other receivables (), md (28,309) 22,881
Increase in finance lease receivables and &% & T & g W 7k 78 K & Uk
loans receivable B FIE (2,855,761) (3,693,575)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 I Hoh pE AT F IR N 302,587 15,421
Increase in contract liabilities A RAEEM 12,143 9,302
Cash used in operations REXBHAZAE (2,219,502) (3,385,229)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid B2 BEBFEH (650) (2,783)
PRC enterprise income tax paid Bz BEEMRERHR (53,746) (49,684)
PRC land appreciation tax paid BEXf 2B ER (2,389) (1,974)
Net cash used in operating activities BETERTAZREFHE (2,276,287) (3,439,670)
Investing activities RETE
Interest received 2 HF S 13,917 15,431
Dividend received BUAR B 63 =
Settlement of other financial assets HEHEMEREE - 45,267
Purchase of property, plant and equipment B E ¥ - BE Ma& & (456,077) (4,223)
Addition to investment properties YIS =S (1,762) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - BEMREN
plant and equipment Frissa 98 3
Proceeds from disposal of investment IR A Y M T EOE
properties 4,327 2,069
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, WY - BE & REC
plant and equipment kv - (992)
Loan to a related party By —RBETER - (12,000)
Repayment of loan from a related party EERE—RBBETHNER 11,600 710
Release of pledged bank deposits EREEIRRITER - 1,251
Placement of pledged bank deposits TFABRBRBRITER (59,162) =
Net cash (used in)/generated from RETE (A, EE
investing activities ZHREFHE (486,996) 47,516

China Chengtong Development Group Limited EIEZEEEBRAF 85



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE2—Z - —F+_A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—=—-= =
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
k=3 BT BT T

Financing activities RESEE
Interest paid EASAE 25(p) (170,814) (57,641)
New bank borrowings raised ES 2 IRITIER 25(b) 3,383,125 1,248,358
Repayment of bank borrowings ERBITER 25(b) (1,539,480) (166,578)
Repayment of lease liabilities BRESEE 25(b) (7.232) (3,986)
Interest paid on lease liabilities HEABZENTE 25(b) (224) (255)
Loans from related parties KERETHWER 25(b) 510,960 23,280
Repayment of loans from related parties  {EE R B REE T E R 25(b) (209,520) =
Proceeds from issuance of asset-backed  BE{TEE X IFEBEFNAME

securities FKIA 25(b) 1,500,800 3,396,000
Repayment of asset-backed securities EEEEXIHFRS 25(b) (1,570,955) (516,031)
Dividends paid to the shareholders B AR RRERE

of the Company 12 (32,209) (23,425)
Net cash generated from financing REETHEE2REFHE

activities 1,864,451 3,899,722
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and RERASZENRD),

cash equivalents EhnFEE (898,832) 507,568
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning REHZ2RERBESEEY

of the year 1,380,259 859,618
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes JMEE =& &) g/ (8,575) 13,073
Cash and cash equivalents at end RERZRERREEEY

of the year 472,852 1,380,259
Analysis of components of cash and RERBREZEWER DI

cash equivalents:
Bank balances and cash RITEFERA® 472,852 1,380,259
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —Z - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Chengtong Development Group Limited (the “Company”) is
a public limited company incorporated in Hong Kong. The address of
its registered office and its principal place of business is Suite 6406,
64/F., Central Plaza, 18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The
Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its
subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as the “Group”) are principally
engaged in investment holding, leasing, bulk commodity trading,
property development and investment, marine recreation services
and hotel.

The Company’'s shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
As at 31 December 2022, the Company’'s immediate holding
company is China Chengtong Hong Kong Company Limited,
which is incorporated in Hong Kong and the directors of the
Company consider the Group's ultimate holding company to be
China Chengtong Holdings Group Limited (“CCHG"), a company
incorporated in the People's Republic of China (the “PRC").

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong Dollar (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

2.1 Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods
beginning on 1 January 2022 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June
2021
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract
Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Amendments to HKFRSs

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group's financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2 FERAEBRKEREEDZIEF]

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ((EEMKEREED]D @

(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

2.2 New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet 22 CEEMGEEKRERNTTREET
effective ERMEREEL

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts’
October 2020 and
February 2022
Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKFRS 10  Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKFRS 16  Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?®

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current liabilities with
Covenants®
Amendment to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting
HKFRS Practice Policies'

Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates'

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2 FEREBMBREENZMET
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ([ERMBREELD @)
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

2.2 New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet 22 CEEMGEREKRERNHTREET
effective (Continued) ERPHREERE)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as EEBEERFIR 5T HERES
Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong BERREBHFEREUAREEZEES
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) #£(20204F) Z 15 EF 15 AT
The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance ZEEFRTAHEREAHEE D
on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least ToEREELEEMNEFIREERS
twelve months from reporting date for classification of REEINES| W BELS B ARE
liabilities as current or non-current, which: SIERE - EH
e specify that the classification of liabilities as current . ERBEIBANENIE

or non-current should be based on rights that are in MBEERREHRFTEN

existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically, X BEEME - ZFERE

the amendments clarify that: B

(i)  the classification should not be affected by iy DEITEIXEEEEI2
management intentions or expectations to settle BRAAREEAGENE
the liability within 12 months; and NTEHIRTEE &

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance with (i)  fHEZERABTRES
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are B BMEERALER
met at the end of the reporting period, even if the FEREBAAARSTFTAE
lender does not test compliance until a later date; & ZEFNERE S
and RESBENBERLTT

£ Rk
. clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the . FHEMBEREAGK  AJHY
option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by FHERBREREEAFHN
the transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments, o THETEE  RIEEE
these terms do not affect its classification as current BERBASTEREI2N
or non-current only if the entity recognises the option SRMITHE: 27| EEEREE
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32 AR TAR - Z5BHA

Financial Instruments: Presentation. TeEEESBAREIIER

) o
In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a BLoh - BEREESREB A E
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the BIE1SR 2 BT MBS ET - LAGEAR
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion. AR B ASERTE -
Based on the Group's outstanding liabilities as at 31 December BEAEBER-_ZTE_—_F+=-_A=
2022, the application of the amendments will not result in +T—RAZKEEEE  EAZEE
reclassification of the Group's liabilities. ATEBRAEBEEENHLE -
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

2.2

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term
“significant accounting policies” with “material accounting
policy information”. Accounting policy information is material
if, when considered together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the
amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy
information relating to material transactions, other events or
conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
(the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate
how an entity applies the “four-step materiality process”
to accounting policy disclosures and to judge whether
information about an accounting policy is material to its
financial statements. Guidance and examples are added to the
Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group's
significant accounting policies. The impacts of application,
if any, will be disclosed in the Group’s future consolidated
financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2 FERAEBRKEREEDZIEF]
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ((EEMBHREEAD @
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

2.2 New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet 22 CEEMFEERERNHTREIET

effective (Continued) BB KRG E)
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting BB ERE8Y ZI55T S5 &5
Estimates HIE 2%
The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary ZEBIIEEe G A FE
amounts in financial statements that are subject to ETHPARZNTBHRR2EE S
measurement uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require Bl @t KRR ELT=TH
items in financial statements to be measured in a way that BAREMI SRR IBE ETTE
involves measurement uncertainty — that is, the accounting — BEstBRAUEREHILZEE S
policy may require such items to be measured at monetary HAENEHEBEE TAEEESZEM
amounts that cannot be observed directly and must instead be BTG - RELIBRT - —HEE
estimated. In such a case, an entity develops an accounting EEeslesttst  SEEN =2t
estimate to achieve the objective set out by the accounting HEHINBERE - GReT G
policy. Developing accounting estimates involves the use of EREESFIESNENERELN
judgements or assumptions based on the latest available, HET s BE ARG o

reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in gboh - BB YT ERFESRA S5
HKAS 8 is retained with additional clarifications. STEENESTIARE  EEE—
WEE °

The application of the amendments is not expected to have FERZE BB ITeHARERD
significant impact on the Group's consolidated financial SAMBHBREKBEATE o
statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3 RAEGEUERREERTES

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT STIBR

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements 31 wESEHKHRREE
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in CAEMBRETIREESSMA
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, R BB BEREEDRBR -
the consolidated financial statements include applicable o - e B R ERER B S
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of TR ARARIZ S FHHEA( LS
Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the A EEBATHEOIE T Z BB
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. FE o
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared ARG HRE THIRE SR ANEE R
on the historical cost basis except for certain properties and g ERKRRERARIKRAFENE
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the WETHERSRIARI - 515
end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting NI FrEestE P i o

policies set out in below.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements
(Continued)

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
16 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in
HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 /mpairment of
Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which
are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so
that at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements
(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by approximately HK$136,243,000.

In view of such circumstances, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group has adequate funds available to enable
it to operate as a going concern, taken into account the past
operating performance of the Group and following:

(i) at the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements for issue, the Group has a total of unused
facilities amounting to approximately HK$5,495,461,000
with maturity after 31 December 2023; and

(i) the Group's current liabilities comprise bank borrowings
of approximately HK$219,217,000 which are not
repayable within the next 12 months but contain a
repayment on demand clause. Without such reallocation,
the Group will have net current asset of approximately
HK$82,974,000.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements
(Continued)

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, taking
into account the above, the Group will have sufficient working
capital to finance its operations and to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due within the next twelve
months from 31 December 2022. Accordingly, the directors
of the Company are satisfied it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

Significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3 HREUGEHMBBRREERTIES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TR ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 FEETBE®E)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is
assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group's efforts or inputs
to the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the
total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group's performance in
transferring control of goods or services.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time
value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group
with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract
contains a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of whether the
promise of financing is explicitly stated in the contract or
implied by the payment terms agreed to by the parties to the
contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer
of the associated goods or services is less than one year,
the Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
transaction price for any significant financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before the
transfer of the associated goods or services in which the
Group adjusts for the promised amount of consideration for a
significant financing component, the Group applies a discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
The relevant interest expenses during the period between
the advance payments were received and the transfer of the
associated goods and services are accounted for on the same
basis as other borrowing costs.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the
other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided by another party before
that good or service is transferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in
exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to
be provided by the other party.

Contract costs
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that
the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it
would not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions) as
an asset if it expects to recover these costs. The asset so
recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or loss on a
systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the
customer of the goods or services to which the asset relates.

The asset is included in trade and other receivables and is
subject to impairment review. The Group applies the practical
expedient of expensing all incremental costs to obtain a
contract if these costs would otherwise have been fully
amortised to profit or loss within one year.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Contract costs (Continued)

Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract in its property
development segment. The Group first assesses whether
these costs qualify for recognition as an asset in terms of
other relevant standards, failing which it recognises an asset
for these costs only if they meet all of the following criteria:

(@)  the costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the Group can specifically identify;

(b)  the costs generate or enhance resources of the Group
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future; and

(c)  the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or
loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer
to the customer of the goods or services to which the assets
relate. The asset is subject to impairment review.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

Sales of properties

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the asset is
transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of the
contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of
the asset may be transferred over time or at a point in time. If
properties have no alternative use to the Group contractually
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment from the
customers for performance completed to date, the Group
satisfies the performance obligation over time and therefore,
recognises revenue over time in accordance with the input
method for measuring progress. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the completed property.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Sales of properties (Continued)

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on the Group's
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the performance
obligation, by reference to the contract costs incurred up to
the end of reporting period as a percentage of total estimated
costs for each contract.

For property development and sales contract for which
the control of the property is transferred at a point in time,
revenue is recognised when the customer obtains the physical
possession of the completed property.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effect of a financing
component if it is significant.

Sales of goods

Income from sales of goods is recognised at a point in time
when the goods are delivered to customers and title has
passed.

Service fees

Revenue from hotel operation, marine travelling services fees
and consultancy service income from leasing arrangements
are recognised when services are rendered.

Rental

Rental income from operating leases of investment properties
and machineries and equipment is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 FEETBE®E)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Interest

Interest income from loans receivable and other financial
assets measured at amortised cost is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset except for financial assets that subsequently
become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets,
the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

Finance lease income

Finance lease income is recognised over the period of lease.
Revenue is recognised over the lease period on a systematic
and rational basis so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
return on the net investment in the finance leases.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components, including contract for acquisition
of ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components, unless
such allocation cannot be made reliably.

Non-lease components are separated from lease component
and are accounted for by applying other applicable standards.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis
over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Except for those that are classified as investment properties
and measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property or inventory in “property,
plant and equipment”, the same line item within which the
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they
were owned.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)
The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3 HREUGEHMBBRREERTIES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TR ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 FEETBE®E)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability, less any lease
incentives receivable, based on the lease term of the modified
lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-
use asset.

When the modified contract contains a lease component and
one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract to
each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified
as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at commencement date at amounts
equal to net investments in the leases, measured using the
interest rate implicit in the respective leases. Initial direct
costs (other than those incurred by manufacturer or dealer
lessors) are included in the initial measurement of the net
investments in the leases. Interest income is allocated to
accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of
return on the Group's net investment outstanding in respect
of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model.

Interest and rental income which are derived from the Group's
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers to allocate consideration in a
contract to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease
components are separated from lease component on the basis
of their relative stand-alone selling prices.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for
as lease modifications, including lease incentives provided
through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

(i)

Operating leases

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the
lease payments for the new lease.

For rent concession under which the Group legally
releases the lessee from its obligation to make
specifically identified lease payment, of which some
of these lease payments are contractually due but not
paid and some of them are not yet contractually due,
the Group accounts for the portions which have been
recognised as operating lease receivables (i.e. the lease
payments which are contractually due but not paid)
by applying the expected credit losses (“ECL") and
derecognition requirements under HKFRS 9 and applies
lease modification requirements for the forgiven lease
payments that the Group has not recognised (i.e. the
lease payments which are not yet contractually due) as
at the effective date of modification.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)
Lease modification (Continued)
(i) Finance leases

The Group accounts for a change in the lease payments
of a finance lease as a lease modification, that is not
accounted for as a separate lease, in accordance with
the requirements of HKFRS 9. If the change represents a
substantial modification, the finance lease receivables of
the original lease are derecognised and a derecognition
gain or loss calculated using the revised lease payments
discounted at the revised discount rate is recognised
in profit or loss on the date of the modification. If the
change does not represent a substantial modification,
the Group continues to recognise the finance lease
receivables in which such carrying amount will be
calculated at the present value of the modified
contractual cash flows discounted at the related
receivables’ original discount rate. Any adjustment to
the carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss at the
effective date of modification.

Sale and leaseback transactions

The Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 15 to assess
whether sale and leaseback transaction constitutes a sale by
the Group.

The Group as a buyer-lessor

For a transfer of asset that does not satisfy the requirements
of HKFRS 15 to be accounted for as a sale of asset, the Group
as a buyer-lessor does not recognise the transferred asset and
recognises a loan receivable equal to the transfer proceeds
within the scope of HKFRS 9.

For a transfer of asset that satisfies the requirements of
HKFRS 15 to be accounted for as a sale of asset, the Group as
a buyer-lessor accounts for the purchase of the asset applying
applicable standards, and for the lease applying the lessor
accounting requirements in accordance with HKFRS 16.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 FEETBE®E)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. When a fair value gain or loss on a non-
monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is also recognised in profit
or loss. When a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary
item is recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised
in other comprehensive income. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case
the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. For properties under
development for which revenue is recognised over time, the
Group ceases to capitalise borrowing costs as soon as the
properties are ready for the Group's intended sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the
related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included
in the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation
rate on general borrowings. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets
are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss
on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the
related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other income and gains, net"”, rather than
reducing the related expense.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Employee benefits
Retirement benefits costs

Payments to the defined contribution retirement benefits plans
are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
services entitling them to the contributions.

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through
defined contribution plans.

The Group participates the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the "MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution retirement benefit plan and contributions to the
scheme are made based on a percentage of the employees’
relevant income.

The employees of the Company's subsidiaries which operate
in the PRC are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentage of
their payroll costs to the central pension scheme.

There were no forfeited contributions under the defined
contribution scheme above and no forfeited contribution
available to reduce the contribution in future years.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Shares/Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group's
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest,
with a corresponding increase in equity (employee share-
based compensation reserve). At the end of each reporting
period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the employee
share-based compensation reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payments reserve will be
transferred to share capital. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in employee
share-based compensation reserve will be transferred to
retained profits.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)
Share award scheme

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in the employee share-based
compensation reserve in equity, over the period in which
the granted conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting
date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the
vesting period has expired and the Group's best estimate
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The income statement expense or credit for a period
represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised
as at the beginning and end of that period and is recognised in
employee benefits expense.

When the share award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. Temporary differences relating to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at initial
recognition and over the lease terms due to application of the
initial recognition exemption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income
taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented within “property, plant
and equipment” in the consolidated statement of financial
position except for those that are classified and accounted for
as investment properties under the fair value model. When
the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-
lease building element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as property,
plant and equipment.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

If a property becomes an investment property because its use
has changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any
difference between the carrying amount and the fair value
of that item (including the relevant leasehold land classified
as right-of-use assets) at the date of transfer is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in revaluation
reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the property,
the relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to
retained profits.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value,
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease
income.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Investment properties (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (“CGU") to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are allocated
to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the CGU or group of CGUs to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant CGU or group of CGUs.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of CGUs.
In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
(if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit
or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group of
CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3 HmEGSUERREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT SR )
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 FEETBE®E)
Cash and cash equivalents BEeRELZEY
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated RIFEVBARRAKRZ2IHEES KR
statement of financial position include: SZEYRE
(a)  cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand (a) e BEFERSRKEHRT
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to o TEIEZEER &K
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no ZERBIBAREREEED
longer meeting the definition of cash; and RITHEER R
() cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term b)) BHEFEY BEEHAK
(generally with original maturity of three months or less), REBEA=@AKMAT)
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible SRERAENeERSEE
to a known amount of cash and which are subject to EXREBEEHRABRNSREDE
an insignificant risk of changes in value and restricted B ARRmERER SRR
deposits arising from pre-sale of properties that are MEFENEEMEEENZR
held for meeting short-term cash commitments. Cash FER - REEEBEW I AER
equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short- HRHReERFEMFAE 0 mEA
term cash commitments rather than for investment or ERE S H AR o

other purposes.

Bank balances for which use by the Group is subject to third AEBFERANRTESRIE=FE
party contractual restrictions are included as part of cash PR I AT AR BR - BRIEA FARR I B 2
unless the restrictions result in a bank balance no longer RITEBRTBRFEREENTERE &
meeting the definition of cash. Contractual restrictions AT A BB SN —2n - FE(E
affecting use of bank balances are disclosed in note 25. FASRITHE A A& LIBR HI R KY 3£ 25
W o

Inventories 7B

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable FEERKAET] SR FEMERD
value. Costs of inventories are determined on actual cost RIREVR - FENAZRERKAR
basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling HEBF - 2R FHEEFENG
price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and TEERAA M TR AR RIEE
costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make FImpAR - SHEMBRABRIEHEE
the sale include incremental costs directly attributable to the EEEENEENARAEEEST
sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to SHER VWAEAMIFLEA ©

make the sale.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Inventories (Continued)
Properties under development/properties held for sale

Properties under development which are intended to be sold
upon completion of development and properties for sale are
classified as current assets. Except for the leasehold land
element which is measured at cost model in accordance
with the accounting policies of right-of-use assets, properties
under development/properties for sale are carried at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a
specific identification basis including allocation of the related
development expenditure incurred and where appropriate,
borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price for the properties less estimated
cost to completion and costs necessary to make the sales.
Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Properties under development for sale are transferred to
properties for sale upon completion.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision
is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money
is material).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an obligation,
the part of the obligation that is expected to be met by
other parties is treated as a contingent liability and it is not
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is
recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no reliable
estimate can be made.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade and bills receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group's ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual term give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. For financial instruments other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets,
interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
finance assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income reserve; and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments, and will be transferred to retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right
to receive the dividends is established, unless the
dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost
of the investment. Dividends are included in the “other
income and gains, net” line item in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3 HmEGSUERREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT SR )
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 FEETBE®E)
Financial assets (Continued) THEEE)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets TRIEENSERAEEE (B
(Continued)
(i) Financial assets at FVTPL (i) TRAFEFABZZERMEE
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being TN EREBHENASIEZ AT E
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FFAEMEERETIEE /K
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL. AFEFAEMEEKETE

FENSREERAFERA

B35 8 -

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value BEAFEFABENSREE
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value REREAREZAFETZ
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain FEEAFEREHGEERERS
or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend PR - RIEEHP ERAK
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included mHAEEFETEERSRE
in the “other income and gains, net” line item. ERDMEMREHFE - I
AT ATE A U A K Wz 5 58 18
g o

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment RIEE B R 2R E 97T R

assessment under HKFRS 9 (EFFIG A2 F & e (8
The Group performs impairment assessment under expected REBREBEEHEESE(REE
credit loss (“ECL"”) model on financial assets (including trade EEBDEXEBEEBU KBRS
and other receivables, finance lease receivables and loans LR FFERITRENENERE
receivable, loans to related parties, pledged bank deposits, EREEZREMEYGRIE  BE
bank balances and cash) which are subject to impairment THERKWGFERERKER  HTH
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at EHER  BEBEITER  RT
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial HEHER ) ETRER S - BEME
recognition. EEESEREmEAHEN - X
REREE R B )25 TR A R A &

# o

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from HEREEBERENHEIAR
all possible default events over the expected life of the AEHRNARREEENSEHEEL
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") MIEHREEEE - Bk - 12@AE
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to HEEERE(12EBBHEEREE]
result from default events that are possible within 12 months FETRHIR A B HIR 1218 B Rl B
after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the BEHNEMHEENTD2HEREE
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors B o S IRBEAEENELE
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions EBEBELRET  UREBEBAR
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the BHRAZE - —REEMN AR E R
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions. & BB E AR S R AT 1 DA 2 R 2R

FASUHOFEORIAETT SR 2
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade and bills
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor's
ability to meet its debt obligations;
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; or

° an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally
understood definitions.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the
Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for
the purposes of assessing impairment. In assessing
whether there has been a significant increase in the
credit risk since initial recognition of financial guarantee
contracts, the Group considers the changes in the risk
that the specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —Z - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(a)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) abreach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower's
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.
The Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade and bills receivables using a provision matrix
taking into consideration historical credit loss experience
and forward looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition. For a lease
receivable, the cash flows used for determining the ECL
is consistent with the cash flows used in measuring the
lease receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument
that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL is the present
value of the expected payments to reimburse the holder
for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the
Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or
any other party.

Lifetime ECL for certain finance lease receivables and
loans receivable are considered on a collective basis
taking into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —Z - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
For collective assessment, the Group takes into

consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;
° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade and
other receivables, finance lease receivables and loans
receivable where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

RAGEBRREERTES
HBUR (@)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 FEETBE®E)

Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises
a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset's carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which
the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at
FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in
the FVTOCI reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is
transferred to retained profits.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including bank borrowings, trade and other
payables, asset-backed securities, unsecured other loan and
loans from related parties are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payments when due in accordance with the terms
of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract liabilities
are measured initially at their fair values. It is subsequently
measured at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

o the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Related parties

(a)

(b)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(ii)

(iif)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Group's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of the employees of the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply: (Continued)

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the
entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3.2, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

4.1

4.2

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on the
valuation performed by independent professional valuers. In
determining the fair value, the valuers have based on a method
of valuation which involves certain estimates of market
condition. In relying on the valuation report, the directors of
the Company have exercised their judgement and are satisfied
that the assumptions used in the valuation are reflective of
the current market conditions. Changes to these assumptions
would result in changes in the fair values of the Group's
investment properties and the corresponding adjustments
to the amount of gain or loss reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Estimated net realisable value on inventories of properties

In determining whether allowances should be made for
the Group's inventories of properties, the Group takes into
consideration the current market environment, the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated
costs to completion of the properties, the sales performance in
previous years and estimated market value of the properties,
i.e. the estimated selling price less estimated costs of selling.
An allowance is made if the estimated selling price is less
than the carrying amount. If the actual net realisable value on
inventories of properties is less than expected as a result of
change in market condition and/or significant variation in the
budgeted development cost, material allowance may result.
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4 KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

4.3

4.4

4.5

Impairment allowance on financial assets and finance
lease receivables and loans receivable

The measurement of impairment losses under HKFRS 9 across
all categories of financial assets and finance lease receivables
and loans receivable requires judgement, in particular, the
estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and
collateral values when determining impairment losses and
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. These
estimates are driven by a number of factors, changes in which
can result in different levels of allowances.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk of exposures since
initial recognition by comparing the risk of default occurring
over the expected life between the reporting date and the
date of initial recognition. The Group considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort for this purpose. This includes quantitative
and qualitative information and also, forward-looking analysis.

Depreciation

The Group depreciates the property, plant and equipment in
accordance with the accounting policies stated in note 3.2.
The estimated useful lives reflect the directors’ estimates of
the periods that the Group intends to derive future economic
benefits from the use of these assets.

Estimated impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting date. Non-financial assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. For the purposes of impairment testing, assets
are allocated to its respective CGUs. Management judgement
and estimation is required in the area of asset impairment
particularly in assessing: (i) whether the carrying amount of an
asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, being the
higher of fair value less costs of disposal or value in use; and
(i) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing
cash flow projections including whether these cash flow
projections are discounted using an appropriate rate.

China Chengtong Development Group Limited BB REBAR L 7

4 BERESTHERATTIEEERZR
ZEERFE

4.3

4.4

4.5

TRHEERMERERKRERE
WEKRERE

REBEFEBVBREEFORAEMN
BRINERMEERBREHERK
RERERERNBEBRTZE
M CEEEBEERERBER
HEEERR A ARRIEMNE - HX
KRG RERBEFMEENSER
FEMMGET - KEGHFRZERER

FE ETEBNZHURERA

{ELTRIZE B -

REBSEY  AEESEBLR
mEREARENSERABR ZED
B FHAZENENRR @ A
BYFHRBAREERRET AR
g - ARELUEE BAARMEK
BATLEBEKRARE NN ER
WEERASEER - LEREER
EERARBTEEDHT -

e

RNEBRIRIFES. 2T 2 5T BUR
HUHE - BERZEFERE - &
STATRERAEEMAARKE R
CRAZEEEMERKREENRZ
B o

FEMEEZAEHRE

REBRNERE B AR HE2EEIE
ERMEESTEEMBELR  3F
TREEREPRBERREE G
EORU B ETTRIE A A o BLRE
ARAME  BEESIKEEZAZ
ReELBMN - EBEAREER
E1F B S (A5 - DERFE
(VEERMERRD AU E S5 (A
AFEREERARERBEOR
2E)XF  RIBRRRERERR
RiGERANEETERR  BHEZ
SHeREWATEEAEESF X
BAIR -

137



Notes to the Financial Statements
MBEREMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE2—Z - —F+_A=+—HILFE

5 REVENUE 5 XX
(i) Disaggregation of the Group's revenue from contracts (i) FTEEREBEFEHZEEEZS
with customers 5l AR
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE—_F-_—F+-HF=1+—HI
FE
Properties Marine
Bulk development recreation
commaodity and services and
Segments Leasing trade  investment hotel Total
28 AZRE@ MEBE BLKERK
HE g5 RRE TEE @t

HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BEFT BETT BRTFT BETT

Types of goods or services eSS E

Sales of: HE -
- properties - W% - - 84,262 - 84,262
- steel and chemical products ~ — SEE R TER - 761,745 - - 761,745
Consultancy service income from &% 2 7 AR

leasing arrangements WA 54,763 - - - 54,763
Marine recreation, hotel and IR - OBERK

travel agency services income  i&RTALER#E - - - 14,017 14,017
Revenue from contracts with REARFAN

customers 54,763 761,745 84,262 14,017 914,787
Rental income from investment ~ REREWENTS

properties WA - - 2,788 - 2,788
Rental income under operating A B A1 k& 2

lease in respect of owned LERERETHSE

machineries and equipment WA 32,022 - - - 32,022
Interest income from loans EWEF 2 FBHA

receivable 316,756 - - - 316,756
Finance lease income MEHERA 11,037 - - - 11,037
Total st 414,578 761,745 87,050 14,017 1,277,390
All revenue from contracts with customers are recognised at a BE-_ZT-_—_F+=-A=+—H1
point in time for the year ended 31 December 2022. FE FEAERFPEHNKREHANE—

By B RERR
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5 REVENUE (Continued) 5 EXRE®
(i) Disaggregation of the Group’s revenue from contracts (i) AEBREEFEHAZEEEZS
with customers (Continued) S RRFR (48)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE—F-—F+-HA=1+—HI
FE
Properties Marine
Bulk  development recreation
commodity and services
Segments Leasing trade investment and hotel Total
28 AR m NEER B LIRERE
HE g5 L& FBE mst

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT

Types of goods or services ElRES S h

Sales of: HE -
- properties -WE = = 78,410 = 78,410
- steel and chemical products ~ — S RIC TER = 755,431 = = 755,431
Consultancy service income from &% 2 7 AR

leasing arrangements WA 86,648 = = = 86,648
Marine recreation, hotel and iR - BE R R

travel agency services income  i&TALER# - = = 22,380 22,380
Revenue from contracts with REARFAD M

customers 86,648 755,431 78,410 22,380 942,869
Rental income from investment ~ REREWENTS

properties WA = = 1,765 = 1,765
Rental income under operating A B A M R 2

lease in respect of owned LEREETHSE

machineries and equipment WA 34,980 - - - 34,980
Interest income from loans EWEF 2 F B

receivable 189,989 - - - 189,989
Finance lease income BAERERA 3,076 = = = 3,076
Total Foy 314,693 755,431 80,175 22,380 1,172,679
All revenue from contracts with customers are recognised at a BE-_ZT-—F+=-A=+—H1
point in time for the year ended 31 December 2021. FE -FAERFRPEAWEHENE—

FFEIBOTER o
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5 REVENUE (Continued) 5 EEHE®

(ii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance (ii)
obligation for contracts with customers

Except for contracts with customers from the sales of
properties, all other contracts with customers are for periods
of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) for sales
of properties as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 and the
expected timing of recognising revenue are as follows:

TEEEFENBTENREN
ZE%

BRREEEMENTE AL« AT
EEMEFAHNH BE —FHIA
T o BB B SR E ERIE 155
FAsr YTEFRBESIEREZSEARE
TRHNZ FEIE -

RZE-_—_FR-_T-_—F+=A
=t+—B DEZHEVENERT
BHEECREBITHBORET) N
R 5B 1 & T8 HA A 7R Uk 2 B9 B 3 2am
T~

2022 2021
—==-= T
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Sales of properties HEWE
Within one year —FRA 52,197 37,635
More than one year ZHR—F 41,369 74,776
93,566 112,411
(iii) Leases (iii) HE&E
2022 2021
—E-= T —F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T B FT
For operating leases: MEEHEMES -
Lease payments that are fixed & E HE R 34,810 36,745
For finance leases: ABMEMAEMS
Finance income on the net investment HEFREZBERA
in the lease 11,037 3,076
Total revenue arising from leases HEEENKRABE 45,847 39,821
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5 REVENUE (Continued) 5 EXEHEW®
(iii) Leases (Continued) (iii) HE@®B)
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recognised BE-T-_—_F+=-A=+—H1
HK$10,744,000 selling profit (2021: HK$24,819,000), being the FE - ASEERKIHEHEA) M
difference between revenue and the cost of sales, as a dealer SR FE 10,744,000 (==
lessor. ——% : ##¥24,819,0007T) - BIUK

mESHER AR Z R ZRE ©

2022 2021
—s-= —Z-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Finance lease income — machinery and BB EWA —#23 K&
equipment 11,037 3,076
Operating lease income — machinery and LETAE WA — R R
equipment 32,022 34,980
Operating lease income — property LEREWA - 2,788 1,765
Total revenue arising from leases HEEENBALE 45,847 39,821
6 SEGMENT INFORMATION 6 HDEER
Information reported to the executive directors of the Company, MARRMITEETANEBLERARE(E
being the chief operating decision makers (“CODM"), for the BEERARE)))M2HRUES BEER KT
purpose of resources allocation and assessment of segment O BERBENERAERTRAIRED
performance, focuses on types of goods or services delivered or P mak ARG LR -
provided.
The Group's reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows: NTAREERERESMGHREEDES
RZMEDHE -
(1) Leasing — providing leasing services including finance lease, (1 HE-REEERB(2FEREMR
sale and leaseback and operating lease services g SROBEREEHRERE)
(2)  Bulk commodity trade — trading of steel and chemical products 2) ARrREREBES-—MME{tEtIERE
2
(3) Property development and investment — holding land for (3) WMEERKEE - IFHELHIEWE
property development projects, providing rental services and TRIEE AR  REHEERSLF
holding investment properties for appreciation BREMEAFAE
(4)  Marine recreation services and hotel — providing marine @) BERERENEE RS LR
recreation, hotel and travel agency services #E B JE RIRTTA AR TS
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6 DEER
Segment revenue and results SHENEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results by ATARSBIEREDEE H o Wam R
reportable segments: BT
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_E-_—F+-_A=+—HILEE
Property Marine
Bulk development recreation
commaodity and services
Leasing trade  investment and hotel Total
AR MERR BLRERS
HE BmESR RiRE ABE @it

HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRTT BETT BBTT BBTT EBTT

Revenue as presented in BABRREN EER

consolidated statement of profit or

loss 414,578 761,745 87,050 14,017 1,277,390
Results B3
Segment results (note (a)) PREE W) 176,315 3,253 24,060 (25,356) 178,272
Fair value loss on investment BEMEZATESE

properties (note (b)) (i) (6,238)
Unallocated finance costs RABREKAR (13,484)
Unallocated corporate expenses ROBLERT (41,689)
Unallocated corporate income ROBEERA 5,370
Profit before tax BRBEAT & A 122,231
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6 DEER®
Segment revenue and results (Continued) PEWERESE)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Continued) B —E__—Ff_HA=1+—HIFE
€)
Property Marine
Bulk development  recreation
commodity and services
Leasing trade investment and hotel Unallocated Total
AR NERE BLRERE
HE BmES k& B & LS )

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
E¥Tr  BETR BT EETn EMTr BRIz

Notes: it
(a) Amounts included in the () STADBEEEVEE

measure of segment results

Interest income from FRREtERHEEL

deposits and other FBHA

financial assets 11,220 5 551 57 1,847 13,680
Depreciation g (22311) (15) 220 (12727) (4916)  (39,991)
Interest expenses (included MES G AKRKA)

in costs of revenue) (155,771) - - - - (155,771)
Finance costs BERA (100) (1,952) - (25) (13,484) (15,561)
Loss on disposal of HENE - BERE

property, plant and R

equipment - - - (342) - (342)

(b) Amount regularly provided (b) EBREERERRE

to the CODM for the RESTHERR

analysis of the segment's kx|

performance
Fair value loss on RENFEZ ATEER

investment properties - - (6,238) - - (6,238)
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6

144

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

6 7EER®

Pk L 635 E 3 16

BE-_ZE-_—F+-A=+—HILEFE

Property Marine
Bulk  development recreation
commodity and services
Leasing trade investment and hotel Total
AR MEERE §LRERS
izt HmE5 RiE FUB & 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
BEFT BEFT BEFT BEFT JBEFT
Revenue as presented in BEBEREN MG
consolidated statement of profit or
loss 314,693 755,431 80,175 22,380 1,172,679
Results E4
Segment results (note (a)) DEREE (W) 197,270 3,623 21,181 (22,717) 199,357
Fair value loss on investment REWME 2 AT ERBE
properties (note (b)) (H77£(b) (1,656)
Unallocated finance costs ROBRERA (4,738)
Unallocated corporate expenses AABEERT (42,364)
Unallocated corporate income AOBEEZERA 19,213
Profit before tax BRAE AT

169,812
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T F+A=t—HIEFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6 DEER®
Segment revenue and results (Continued) PEWERESE)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (Continued) BE-E-—F+-H=1+—HULFE
(&)
Property Marine
Bulk development  recreation
commodity and services and
Leasing trade  investment hotel  Unallocated Total
ARBER  WEER §LERERS
HE 25 KB FBJE ROEE Eoh
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
BEFr  BEFr  EETr  EETt  BEFr BEFT
Notes: Vi
(a) Amounts included in the a) AP EEEHE
measure of segment results ks
Interest income from deposits  FR R EMEREEY
and other financial assets FBHA 6,364 1 381 24 5,793 12,563
Depreciation Eilk- (23,197) (13) (15) (13,670) (6,043) (42,938)
Interest expenses (included in 837 1 (5 AR AR)
costs of revenue) (58,103) - - - - (58,103)
Finance costs BMEKA - (1,491) - (132) (4,738) (6,361)
Loss on disposal of property,  HEMNE  FEMK
plant and equipment ZEE - - - (5) - (5)
{b) Amount regularly provided to (b) EEiME B L ERRE
the CODM for the analysis RESTHBRA
of the segment's kx|
performance
Fair value loss on investment ~ REME 7 ATFEFE
properties - - (1,656) - - (1,656)
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same Z““’*"*EE’] ST B FE3 2T Il Ay AR 2

as the Group's accounting policies described in note 3.2. Segment
profit/(loss) represents the profit earned by/loss from each segment
without allocation of corporate expenses and income, directors’
emoluments, fair value loss on investment properties and finance
costs. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes
of resource allocation and performance assessment.

SRR - D H /miF‘J/(Eﬂéi)?‘a’%
""ﬂaﬁﬂlmfl /}Eﬂa :

REA - EEZME %xéf%%ﬂ

DB AR
FEEE

RBERAK » WRHERD B RRRFAE
AEIBREARERENGERE -
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6 72EER®
Segment revenue and results (Continued) PEWERESE)

ADBEEFERATE BRERE N WEFRE R
KEFREBELD ZMEBEBA(ZFE=—
FEARSFERKAEFRAREETZ
MBIA) A TEEREBREREENR
MRS

Unallocated corporate income mainly comprised net exchange
gain and interest income from deposits and related parties (2021:
net exchange gain and interest income from deposits and related
parties) which are not directly attributable to the business activities
of any operating segment.

APMEERAXTIBRERE  AKEE
MOBTRANREZRREERAS - X H
EERBRNEARENENEREE -

Unallocated corporate expenses mainly comprised depreciation,
staff costs and legal and professional expenses of the Group's
headquarter which are not directly attributable to the business
activities of any operating segment.

STREERAME

Segment assets and liabilities

UTRARENEERABERRENEZ

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by

146

reportable segments: PaR)il
2022 2021
g T
Note HK$000 HK$000
et BT T BT T
Segment assets DEEE
Leasing vich=1 9,113,630 7,152,014
Bulk commodity trade ArEmE S 25,901 78,269
Property development and EERRIGE
investment (a) 431,602 461,773
Marine recreation services and hotel V& ik e AR 7S FB JE 153,320 183,486
Total segment assets DEEERE 9,724,453 7,875,542
Unallocated KoL
- other financial assets —HtemEE 69,183 81,508
- bank balances and cash —RITEFENRES 140,885 120,670
- other unallocated assets —Hib R DR EE 75,214 90,086
Consolidated assets HEBE 10,009,735 8,167,806
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6 7PEER®
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) PEEERAEGEH)
2022 2021
—E-=f -2
HK$000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Segment liabilities NIEAE
Leasing HE 6,246,782 4,183,651
Bulk commodity trade ArEmE S 8,787 63,669
Property development and investment YR RIGE 234,620 237,644
Marine recreation services and hotel AR RS ANA TS 43,406 42,950
Total segment liabilities DIEAERE 6,533,595 4,527,914
Bank borrowings RITIEE 500,000 460,319
Other unallocated liabilities B RN AE 40,890 37,871
Consolidated liabilities meaE 7,074,485 5,026,104
Note: et -
(a) Segment assets of property development and investment segment include (a) MEEREBREIBZHNBEERREKREA
investment properties but segment results exclude the related fair value ME - BEHOEEETEEFABABATE
loss of HK$6,238,000 (2021: HK$1,656,000) for the year. B8 756,238,000 0 (ZF = —F : B
1,656,0007T) °
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating BEESBERARRSEESEER

resources between segments:

BRamEnk T ERMBARRE

° all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than

assets held by head office and the inactive subsidiaries; and ZEEN FTBEBEANEEZHRE

. all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than . BamEEk NERHBRAREL:
borrowings and liabilities incurred by head office and the ZEEREEIN TBEAEBEHESE
inactive subsidiaries. ERESE -
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6

148

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6 72EER®
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) PEEERAGEH)
Amounts included in the measure of segment assets: FFADHEENECSH
Property Marine
Bulk development recreation
commodity and  services and
Leasing trade  investment hotel  Unallocated Total
AR NERE BLRERT
HE EREE k& EE OB st
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
BETT BETT BEFT BEFT BEFT BEFT
Additions to non-current assets (other BRI EE (S REER
than financial assets and deferred EEHBEEERIN
tax assets)
- For the year ended 31 December -BZE-Z-_F
2022 +ZR=1t-HLEE 460,458 - 32 1,951 6,179 468,620
- Forthe year ended 31 December ~ —HZ-F-—F
2021 TZR=T-HILER 2,642 12 39 2,202 28 4,923

2022 Annual Report FEH%



Notes to the Financial Statements

Rt 5 3R = B 6

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —Z - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information

The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong, the PRC and
others.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers is
presented based on the location of the customers. Information about
the Group’s non-current assets (other than financial instruments and
deferred tax assets) is presented based on the physical location of
the assets.

6

PEER @)
HEER

AEENEBOHNEL - PEREH

=
oo ©

AEERBINBEF ZWBmERTIREE
FrRESMES] - AREERBDEE (SR
TAMERERIBEERIN 2 B TIREZ
SEEZERMUEMRZS -

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets
REIIMBERZ W@ FREBEE

2022 2021 2022 2021
—=-= —E - —F —E_-C —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$000
BT T JEBET T BT T BT T
Hong Kong BB 584,780 453,260 5,892 2,040
The PRC i 514,239 457,287 781,258 404,586
Others H 178,371 262,132 - =
1,277,390 1,172,679 787,150 406,626

Note: Non-current assets excluded financial instruments and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as follows:

Kiet: ERBDEETEREERTARELEHRE
o

TREFEHR

REBFEEAEBRALETEI0% N LR
EFERAKALT

2022 2021

—E-CF T

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT T

Customer A ZEA 379,434 366,587
Customer B =FB N/A 176,968

The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue
of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, both customer A and B are
from bulk commodity trade business.

! HEK A AEEZRANERTER
10% °

BHE_Z__F+_A=+—HILFE -
BEFARBHRBEAREME HE °
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE2—Z - —F+_A=+—HILFE

7

150

N2 g

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 7 HWARWKREF
2022 2021
B8 —E -4
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Interest income from: RENUTEE ZFEHWA -
- deposits and other financial assets - FREEMERMEE 13,680 12,563
- related parties - BAEs 3,022 2,868
Dividend from equity instruments at FVTOC| 12 A FET A H b 2 E U569
EETEMRE 63 =
Fair value gain on other financial assets BAFEFABENE S
measured at FVTPL BEZAFERE - 161
Government subsidies (note) B #66 Bh (M 2t) 989 503
Exchange gain, net b H a5 - 9,927
Gain on disposal of investment properties &R EWE 7 Wz 1,786 360
Others EAh 5,289 2,706
24,829 29,088
Note: Biat -

For the year ended 31 December 2022, among the government subsidies,
HK$192,000 (2021: Nil) are government grants obtained from the Employment
Support Scheme (“ESS") under the Anti-epidemic Fund launched by the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region supporting the payroll
of the Group’s employees. Under the ESS, the Group had to commit to spend
these grants on payroll expenses, and not to reduce employee head count below
prescribed levels as set out in the ESS for the year ended 31 December 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, HK$797,000 (2021: HK$503,000) are
government grants obtained from Mainland local government supporting the
tourism business. The Group has complied with the requirements set out by the
local government for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—RItEE  RENFH
Bhieh - B1192,000 (=B ——F : T)AEBE
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((MRBEBDESOHBNME - UXFHAEEE
BMIE - REBERMESTSE  BE_T_—_F+=
B=+—BL&FE  AEEAFRGESZSHBAR
oMY BTEHEBABRBERRETERE
BIA T AKF o

BE-_ZT-_—F+-_A=1+—ALLFE B
7 #797,0007T (ZF = —4 : B ¥503,0007T) A
A b B R T ERS DA SE FE IR B SE TS MO BUT M B © AR
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Rt 5 3R = B 6

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —Z - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

FINANCE COSTS 8 mERX
2022 2021
—E-= —E -4
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BEFT
Interest on bank borrowings RITEEZFE 75,423 23,916
Interest on asset-backed securities BEIREHFZNE 89,715 41,720
Interest on loans from related parties REBEFERZHE 7,766 1,113
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENES 224 255
173,128 67,004
Less: S
Amounts capitalised on properties under BRAMEIBIEENMEZ S5
development (1,796) (2,540)
Amounts included in costs of revenue AT AWK A 2 £ 58
- Interest on bank borrowings —RITEEZF B (61,226) (16,383)
— Interest on asset-backed securities —BEXFIEFIMNE (89,715) (41,720)
- Interest on loans from related parties —REBFEFERZFE (4,830) =
15,561 6,361

The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a rate of 2.40% (2021:
2.14%) per annum.

BEEXRABTIHFERNER240% (T = —4F:
2.14%) &AL ©
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MBEREMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE2—Z - —F+_A=+—HILFE

9 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9 MEHEX
2022 2021
—E-= T4
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Current tax: BNHEAR IR -

Hong Kong Profits Tax BENER 283 393
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") PRI EMSH(RERSHD 47,358 50,816
PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT") P IR E R ([ L st 3 E R ) 2,641 5,919
50,282 57,128

Over-provision in prior years: BAFEBRERE
Hong Kong Profits Tax BBNEH (10) (10)
PRC EIT PRI ERSH (56) -
50,216 57,118
Deferred tax (note 32) EIERLIA (K 7£32) (5,273) 7,002
44,943 64,120

152

Under the two-tiered profits tax rate regime of Hong Kong Profits
Tax, the first HK$2,000,000 of profits of the qualifying group entity
will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed
at 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying
group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2,000,000 of
the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits above HK$2,000,000. The assessable profits of
other subsidiaries in Hong Kong are taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law"”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% for both years. The current tax also comprised
LAT which is estimated in accordance with the requirements set
forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. LAT has been
provided at ranges of progressive rates of the appreciation value,
with certain allowable deductions.
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BIEEBNESHO _RINEHEE &4
MEBEENEBE2,000,0007TH 5%
8.25% My T KA + M A BB 2,000,000
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AEREEEENEBANEHRIZGTER
& T &8 2,000,000 #98.25% & -
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Notes to the Financial Statements
MEREME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &2 — S - —F+ - A=+—HItFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 9 FISFHEX®
Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting profit at BEAMERTEZAMERAYEHET R
applicable tax rates: ZEERINT ¢
2022 2021
—E2-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
BT T BT T
Profit before tax FR 75 A1 g A 122,231 169,812
Tax calculated at PRC EIT rate of 25% RHBEGEMSHE2%(ZF
(2021: 25%) % : 25%)FTE 2 HBIA 30,558 42,453
Effect of different tax rates of group entities R l?l\ﬁi\’rlﬂ AERERALE
operating in jurisdictions other than the ZEBRERB I IARARELE
PRC 2,365 (536)
PRC LAT R B IR (AR 2,641 5,919
Tax effect on LAT THIBER 2 MF 2 (660) (1,480)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax i %R%TT?DB%E%S‘ZZ
purpose BwE 2,794 8,768
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BARRBAZHBETE
purpose (646) (588)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERRIEEIB 2 B & 7,847 575
Tax effect of temporary difference not RERERFEEE o RETE
recognised (44) (5)
Tax effect of tax losses utilised during the FREBRABIEBE
year ik 2 (347) (146)
Withholding tax from interest income FIBURA Z FEIFL - 2,631
Withholding tax for undistributed profits of FEM B AR 2 RDERRF 2
PRC subsidiaries FEH 501 6,639
Over-provision in prior years BAFEBERE (66) (10)
Income tax expense FriS iR 2 44,943 64,120
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MBEREMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE2—Z - —F+_A=+—HILFE

10 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

154

10 FREF

2022 2021
—_E-= —=EF"—
HK$’000 HK$000
BT T BT T
Profit for the year has been arrived at after FRBFSI0BR,GEA) ¢
charging/(crediting):
Auditor’s remuneration ZE R B &
- audit services —BETIRTS 1,180 1,250
- non-audit services — FEERETARTE 900 360
2,080 1,610
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ %¥ - BE MR E2ZITE 39,996 42,948
Less: Amounts capitalised on properties under  J& : EEFRYE 2 BIEE AL
development et (5) (10)
39,991 42,938
Contributions to retirement benefits schemes  iRK4E 5T 21 2%

(including directors’ emoluments) (BRREZEH:) 14,359 12,011
Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) BETRA(BRESZMHE) 69,165 58,048
Total staff costs B TR AN 45T 83,524 70,059
Less: Amounts capitalised on properties under  J& : EEFRYE Z BIEE AL

development e (1,833) (1,821)
81,691 68,238
Cost of inventories sold (included in costs of GFEEERA G AU ZSKA)

revenue) 824,479 815,061
Exchange loss/(gain), net FE 5 58, (R ES) /F 58 7,584 (9,927)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE  MEMXBZEE

equipment, net F R 342 5
Impairment losses recognised/(reversed) on SEEERR S (BE)ZRE

financial assets, net include in administrative EEFEGIATTHRER) :

expenses:

- trade and other receivables - B 5 RHEAEWKFIE 19 (@)

- finance lease receivables and loans - MERERUGIEREKE

receivable = 4,586 11,835
4,605 11,831
Gross rental income from investment properties K B3& & W% 2 FAE IR A 4458 (2,788) (1,765)
Less: Direct operating expenses arising from W BIREMEEE 2 HEL
investment properties BRI - 264
(2,788) (1,501)
Expenses relating to short-term leases G EAE E AR - 1,255
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MEREME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —Z - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

11 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 11 EERSREEEMNS
EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) ESBM<
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant RIREA LR RE B R EHEA
to applicable Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Companies BENAFEESEHLT -
Ordinance, is as follow:
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-—ZE-—F+-H=1+—HI
FE
Non-
executive
Executive directors director Independent non-executive directors
HITES FHTES BUFHITES
Lee Man
Zhang Gu Yang Wang Chang Chun,

Bin  Honglin Tianzhou Daxiong Qing Tony He Jia Total

RE O OBMM O BEN IR E  ZE2 fifE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
BYETT EETT EETT EMTT ERTr EBETr EB¥Tr BN

(note (a)) (note (b))
Hiz#(a) (Hizt(b)
Fees e - - - 180 360 360 360 1,260
Salaries and other 5o REMER
allowances - - - - - - - -
Discretionary bonus Wi - - - - - - - -
Contribution to retirement ~ R{RiEH 512
benefits schemes R - - - - - - - -
Total emoluments ZHe - - - 180 360 360 360 1,260
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE—_E—_—Ff+_F=+—HI
FE
Executive directors Independent non-executive directors
WIES BUFNTES
Lee Man
Zhang Wang Li Yang Chang Chun,
Bin Tianlin -~ Shufang  Tianzhou Qing Tony He Jia Total
5RIE FR% FHH BEN BB B2 (B3 =)
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
BEFr  B¥Fr E¥Fr FEFr BEFr BEFr EEFr EEFr
(note (c))  (note (d))
M) M)
Fees we - - - - 360 360 360 1,080
Salaries and other e RAMmEN
allowances - - 732 - - - - 732
Discretionary bonus Wi = = = = = = = =
Contribution to retirement  R{REHIFTE)
benefits schemes 3 = = 12 = = = = 12
Total emoluments Lz = = 744 £ 360 360 360 1,824
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE2—Z - —F+_A=+—HILFE

1

156

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
Notes:

(a) Mr. Gu Honglin was appointed as an executive director with effect
from 23 December 2022.

(b) Mr. Wang Daxiong was appointed as a non-executive director with
effect from 1 July 2022 and resigned with effect from 11 January
2023.

(c) Mr. Wang Tianlin has resigned as an executive director with effect

from 3 December 2021.

(d) Mr. Li Shufang has resigned as an executive director with effect
from 9 September 2021.

The executive directors are not paid directly by the Company
but receive emoluments from the Company’s holding
company, in respect of their services to the larger group which
includes the Group. No apportionment has been made as the
qualifying services provided by these directors to the Group
are incidental to their responsibilities to the larger group.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, four executive
directors of the Company, namely Mr. Zhang Bin, Mr. Wang
Tianlin, Mr. Li Shufang and Mr. Yang Tianzhou, had waived
their directors’ fees of HK$180,000, HK$120,000, HK$120,000
and HK$120,000 respectively.

Five highest paid individuals

No (2021: none) director of the Company was included in the
five highest paid individuals of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022. The emoluments of the five (2021: five)
highest paid individuals for the year ended 31 December 2022
were as follows:

1

BEENEREEEMNS @
(a) EZBS(E)
Hiat -

(b)

(a) BEAMELEEZEANTES  B=
T oF+ZAZt+=ABER -

(b) FARBEEREZERFENTESE - B
T FEtA—HBER  WRZ
T=F—A+—HEHE-

© ERRELCBHERTESHS B
TR -F+_HA=ZHEEXK-

d) ZFHRECLECBRERTESRY 8
R FNAANBBER -

HOTESNESTHES A FHA LA
BEEXN  MREARRMNEZERA
AEBME  EREESERAE
BEANEREERERE R
B - aARZFEETAAKEREHRD
BERRFEEEEAKENE(E
BREE - A EELDE -

BE_F-_—Ft+t-A=1+—HL
FEARAOLATEEREEL
£ ITRREE  FHERRERS

ANEEERERESHVEDFIR
7% 180,0007T * /&% 120,0007T
7 %120,0007T &2 ¥ 120,0007T °

EEREHFMAL

BE_Z-_—_#F#+-_A=+—8"
BCE-_—F  B)ARAESTFA
AEBREZESTFMAL  -HE=
E_—_F+-_A=+—8" ﬁ%(
T_—F: AR R FMALZH
oy N

2022 2021

—E-= — T —4F

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Salaries and other benefits e REAMER 4,359 3,616

Performance-based bonus EiES 3,075 3,362
Contributions to retirement benefit RIREFET B R

schemes 739 986

8,173 7,964
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # = —

Rt 5 3R = B 6

T F+A=t—HIEFE

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 11 EERSAEEEME®
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (b) EBERESFMAL(E

The number of the highest paid individuals who are not
directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

TN FUATHRENFEARAES
HWERSFMALHABMT :

Number of individuals

Nil to HK$1,000,000 BT L 2= 8 #1,000,0007T

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000

751,000,001 7T 278 % 1,500,0007T
711,500,001 7T &8 #2,000,0007T
712,000,001 7T & /8 #2,500,0007T

AEEHE
2022 2021
—E:== —E-—F
1 2
4 2
- 1
5 B

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no
remuneration was paid by the Group to the directors or the
five (2021: five) highest paid individuals as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office.

(c) Senior management’s emolument
The remuneration paid to the senior management (other than

the directors as disclosed in note 11(a) above) for the year fell
within the following band:

(c)

RBEZZE-_—_FR-_FT=_—F+
“A=+—BHIEFEE  AEFEWE
MEEFRRARCE-_—F: AR)K%
SEMEAAZHEMBE - EAE
BEMARNEESAEIMARNER
BF 2 22 - SKEAEBER 2 /ifE -

REA - AeSKhEEER EXWE11(a
WEHZERIN IS N T THI4ER]

Number of individuals

ABHA
2022 2021
—E:== — T —4F
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 751,000,001 7T 278 % 1,500,0007T 1 1
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE2—Z - —F+_A=+—HILFE

12 DIVIDENDS 12 BKRE
2022 2021
—E-= T —F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Dividends proposed: BEZRERRKE
Proposed final dividend of HK$0.39 cent EHE RS ®AR0.397 1L
(2021: HK$0.54 cent) per ordinary share (ZZ2E=—F : 06481 2K
HRk B 23,262 32,209
Dividends paid: BRRE
Final dividend of HK$0.54 cent (2020: MEE—_E-_—F+=-A=+
HK$0.9 cent) per ordinary share in respect — B BFEERERE
of financial year ended 31 December 2021 BROBABIN(ZZE = F -
0.9%(l) 2 REARR 2 32,209 52,173

The final dividend of HK$0.39 cent per ordinary share proposed after
the reporting date for the year ended 31 December 2022 were not
recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting date. In addition,
the final dividend is subject to the shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

In July 2022, a final dividend of HK$0.54 cent (2020: HK$0.9 cent)

per ordinary share was paid to shareholders as the final dividend in
respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

The breakdown of the final dividend paid is as follows:

RREBHRERERBEE_T - —F+
TAZTHLEFEZRBEREERER
B0.397% Ml - RREAHRIEERSE
& o Wb - REARR B AR EERR
BERGHER - HAMEE -

RZEZZFt A BERBRREKGEE=
T - —F+_A=Z+—HUEMRFEZRXR
HARS B BRI AR 0. 54 (=T T F ¢
0.9784) -

Pk 3 B R AR B BB AR TS

2022 2021

—E=—-= —=E——
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Dividends: &2

Cash Re 32,209 23,425
Share alternative (note 33) VARZ AR B3 12 (K17#33) - 28,748
32,209 52,173

158 2022 Annual Report FEHKE



Notes to the Financial Statements
MEREME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —Z - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

13 EARNINGS PER SHARE 13 ERER
The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to owners AAalEB ARG ERERZF THER A
of the Company is based on the following data: TEERE
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HK$'000 HK$000
BT T BT T
Earnings BF
Profit for the year attributable to owners AR EEREARRF 2 AAF
of the Company for the purpose of basic A ABLRFEERF
earnings per share 76,066 104,222
2022 2021
—E-—fF —E-—fF
‘000 ‘000
FiR FiR
Number of shares RO E
Weighted average number of ordinary AR ESREARRF 2 MiEFEH
shares for the purpose of basic earnings ~ E A% B
per share 5,952,885 5,857,209
Diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2022 HREBEZZ-_—_FR=-F=_—F+=A
and 2021 are not presented as there were no dilutive potential =S+—BIEFEVEFEABTEN D
ordinary shares in issue during both years. BITEBER MU EZWMEFE 2R

BERT -
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Rt 5 3R = B 6

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE2—Z - —F+_A=+—HILFE

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14 Y% - BERRE

Marine Land and
Motor travel other
Furniture vehicles facilities  properties Machineries
and and and  leased for and
Buildings  equipment vessels equipment  ownused equipment Total
BEBRZ
BRR BLEE TuRkEM
BT BORE  RERMM  RERRE NERE  BHERRE B
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000
Bfr  E¥FrT  BMFTT  B¥Tr A¥Fr BEFL BETr
Cost KA
At 1 January 2021 W_ZE-_—%—Hf—H 171,781 20,477 71,614 7,452 70,878 131,005 473,207
Exchange adjustments R A% 4,140 434 1,926 188 1113 3,303 11,104
Additions NE - 524 2,087 - 2,312 - 4,923
Disposals L& - (176) S - - = (176)
Transfer to investment BREREMEWH15)
properties (note 15) (11,424) - - - - - (11,424)
At 31 December 2021 and RZBZ-F1+ZA
1 January 2022 e el =1 S
F—A—H 164,497 21,259 75,627 7,640 74,303 134,308 477,634
Exchange adjustments B AR (12,134) 2,283) (5,755) (564) (4,800) (20,603) 46,139)
Additions NE - 42,494 28 - 12,543 413,555 468,620
Disposals HE - (4,920) 2,970) - - - (7,890)
Eliminated upon end of leases T S 4 R 34 - - - - (10,308) - (10,308)
At 31 December 2022 g —
‘|’ A= ‘|’ H 152,363 56,550 66,930 1,076 71,738 527,260 881,917
Accumulated depreciation ~ ZHERAE
and impairment
At 1 January 2021 RZZE-—-%-A-H 39,628 10,686 44,459 5,998 25,651 2,112 128,534
Exchange adjustments EHRE 1,054 166 1,327 163 134 409 3,243
Provided for the year FREE 7572 2,370 3,687 294 7,668 21,357 42,948
Eliminated on disposals LEREH = (168) S - - = (168)
Eliminated on transfer to ERERENMER
investment properties B (HE15)
(note 15) (4,294) - - - - - (4,294)
At 31 December 2021 and W-Z--F+-FR
1 January 2022 =+-RAR=-Z==
—A—-H 43,960 13,054 49,473 6,445 33,453 23,878 170,263
Exchange adjustments AR (3,422) (492) (4,068) (468) (1,893) (2,295) (12,638)
Provided for the year ENELE 6918 2,281 2,669 - 7,483 20,645 39,996
Eliminated on disposals LEREH - (4,569) (2,881) - - - (7,450)
Eliminated upon end of leases T E & REH 34 - - - = (10,308) - (10,308)
At 31 December 2022 i S—
+=A=+-H 47,456 10,274 45,193 5977 28,735 42,228 179,863
Carrying amounts REE
At 31 December 2022 A
+-A=1+-H 104,907 46,276 21,737 1,099 43,003 485,032 702,054
At 31 December 2021 RZFZ-F
+ZA=1+-H 120,537 8,205 26,154 1,195 40,850 110,430 307,371
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —Z - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 14 Y% BERRE®
The above items of property, plant and equipment, after taking into LAY - BB REEIER DR EEF %
account the residual values, are depreciated on a straight-line basis BEEBHETINFRUEGETE
at the following rates per annum:
Buildings 4% BF 4%
Furniture and equipment 10% to 33% NS & i 10% Z=33%
Motor vehicles and vessels 6.67% to 33% VB A AR 6.67%%=33%
Marine travel facilities and equipment 6.67% to 33% B ERPGEREREE 667%%E33%
Machineries and equipment 16.67% A 2 R 16.67%
Right-of-use assets Over the shorter of the FRELE BEAFEAFHAK
assets’ useful life or the HAAREE
lease term RLE)
The Group as lessee AEBEERABEA
Right-of-use assets (included in the property, plant and BEHELEGIAEYF¥E - BMEARE)
equipment)
Leasehold Leased
lands properties Total
HE i HEWE &&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETIT BETT BT T

As at 31 December 2022 R-B-_—+=-HA=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 32,272 10,731 43,003
As at 31 December 2021 R-ZBE-_—F+=-HA=+—H
Carrying amount SR (E 36,996 3,854 40,850

For the year ended 31 December HE—-Z_-—_—f+_§
2022 =t+—HLEFE
Depreciation charge TEXE 2,046 5,437 7,483

For the year ended 31 December HEZE_—Z—-—45+_F§
2021 =+—HLEFE
Depreciation charge e 2,117 5,551 7,668
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE2—Z - —F+_A=+—HILFE

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

162

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (included in the property, plant and
equipment) (Continued)

14

M - BERREB®
AEEEREREAGE)

EHREEE (ST ALY - BEFRE)
(%)

2022 2021

—E—-= — T4

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T JEMETF T

Expenses relating to short-term leases EHEHAEE MY - 1,255
Total cash outflow for lease HEMR SR LA 7,456 7,808
Additions to right-of-use assets NEFREEE 12,543 2,312

For both years, the Group leases various offices for its operations.
Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 3 years (2021: 3
years) without extension and termination options.

The Group has obtained the land use right certificate for all leasehold
lands.

The Group as lessor

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group leases out all the
machineries and equipment under operating leases to generate
rental income.

Impairment assessment

In respect of the Group’s marine recreation services and hotel CGU,
due to recurring operating losses, the management of the Group
concluded there was indication for impairment and conducted an
impairment assessment on the recoverable amounts of certain
property, plant and equipment under this CGU.

The Group estimates the recoverable amounts of the relevant
assets under the CGU based on the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. The carrying amount of the relevant
assets does not exceed the recoverable amount based on fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use and no impairment has been
recognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —Z - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various offices and stores under operating
leases with rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for
an initial period of 3 = 10 years (2021: 3 — 10 years), with unilateral
rights to extend the lease beyond initial period held by lessees only.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the
lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the respective
functional currencies of the group entities. The lease contracts
do not contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to
purchase the property at the end of lease term.

15 BREWE

$%$E%F%&%ﬁ,%\ﬂjfﬂy{l%“*&r5
o MSRASN - ZEHE—RVLA
HIBE10F (ZT = —F - 3i1o¢> B
AABREFNABABEREVISHR
1% o

HRAEHEANEEERTENRER
ETE - BN E R AR E 2% B W
SNERRR - HESHNL TEERMREBEE
R,/ HAEBARERERGEEYEN
EIBE -

2022 2021
—E-= —E -4
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Fair value BATE

At 1 January S—H—H 99,255 89,143
Exchange adjustments P& b F & (7,142) 2,377

Changes in fair value recognised in profit or RIEBZFER 2 AT EEZE

loss (6,238) (1,656)
Additions NE 1,762 =
Disposals HE (2,541) (1,709)
Transfer from property, plant and equipment EEWE - BRERERERE14)

(note 14) - 11,100
At 31 December R+=—BA=+—H 85,096 99,255
Fair value loss on investment properties STABRNREYE

included in profit or loss ATEER (6,238) (1,656)

The carrying amount of investment properties shown above
represents properties situated in the PRC held under medium-term
leases.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, buildings with carrying
amount of HK$7,130,000 (2022: Nil) included in property, plant and
equipment (note 14) were transferred to investment properties and
revaluation gain of approximately HK$3,970,000 (2022: Nil) was
credited to revaluation reserve as operating lease agreements were
entered into with a third party for these buildings since the prior year
to generate rental income.

EXFARZBEEYEZREERERET B
HORFBRFAEZYE -

HE_T-_—F+ZA=1T—HLEFE "
FTAWE - BB REE 14 ZEREEE
BABH7,130,000L(ZT=Z=2F : T)Z
EFEBEREYE  MEMKELOBE
3,970,000c( =T = =% : T)Bt AER
& DERAGFR—BE=FRZE
BFAVELHERZAEERSRA
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The fair values of the Group’'s investment properties at 31
December 2022 and 2021 have been arrived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out on the respective dates by Jones Lang Lasalle
Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited, an independent qualified
professional valuer not connected to the Group. Jones Lang Lasalle
Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors and possesses appropriate qualifications
and recent experience in the valuation of similar properties in the
relevant locations.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best
use of the properties is their current use.

The following table presents the fair value of the Group's investment
properties measured at the end of the reporting period on a
recurring basis, catergorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. The level into
which a fair value measurement is determined with reference to
the observability and significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technigue as follows:

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2022

15 BREWE®

KEER-_ZE__FR-_F_—F1+=A
St BRZEBREMEZRAFHENEILA?
REXGEMPERTEXFERERE
FRAR] (AR EY EEE) NS B B M
RAZHEEEAR - HMEBITEERR
EHERARRERAEMBEEE B
BEER - IHNA R EUYR
Zfh1EREE -

REEHIEZ A TER - FENEZED
MEERZANSEEZEAMAE -

TREIRBEMRZEEEEETERN

AEEREMENLTE BRAEEM

ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%m% N FEFEEEN=ZR
INSE NP EAERRNERKLSZ

%ﬁ@ﬁ&¢ﬁ%%%k%ﬁ%ﬂﬁ%ﬁ
EUEFEMAT :

R-B-—F+-A=+—HHNLFESZ
&

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
— & —#& =& &5t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BEF T BEFT BEFT BT
Investment properties: BEYE
Property units — the PRC YIFEBN - PR - 10,485 74,611 85,096
Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2021 R-EBE-_—F+-A=+—HHNAFESE
F
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
— & R =% A&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
JBEEEF T JBEEEF T BEEF T BT T
Investment properties: WEYE
Property units — the PRC b E= vy = 11,322 87,933 99,255

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of
Level 3.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —Z - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15

Information about Level 3 fair value measurement — Property
units in the PRC

Fair value is determined by applying the income approach for
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 and based on the
following significant unobservable inputs.

BREWE®

FR=RAPEFEZEN -REEHY
KB

HE-_T-_—_Fr_T-_—F+-_A=+
—BHLEFE  AFEDEBEARAZER
BT ERNAIBRG ABREET °

Significant Relationship of unobservable
unobservable inputs Range inputs to fair value
ERFAEEE AHIE gE TUBRE@ABEELTEZBRE
Term yield 3.0% —4.5% per annum The higher the term vyield,
(2021: 3.0% —4.0% per annum) expected vacancy rate and
reversionary yield,
the lower the fair value
& Hi B 3 2 BF3.0% 45%(ZF=—%F : FHE R - FAEZE B R RIEREIHRE
HF3.0%4.0%) A AATERE
Expected vacancy rate 0% —10.0% (2021: 0% — 7.0%)
g X 0%=10.0%(=ZZF=—%F : 0%~ 7.0%)
Reversionary yield 3.5% —5.0% per annum
(2021: 3.5% —4.5% per annum)
o EEE BF35%5.0%(=ZF=_—%:
HF3.5% 4.5%)
Daily rent RMB1.09 — RMB6.02 per square meter  The higher the daily rent,
(2021: RMBO0.3 = RMB8.1 the higher the fair value
per square meter)
BRES FEHARARKE1.09T - ARKG6.02t SHHHESAES  MATEDRS
—E-—F: BFARARKOIT -
AR#8.17T)
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15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15 REWE®
Information about Level 3 fair value measurement — Property BBE=RAFHEFEZER - RFEANY
units in the PRC (Continued) EEBEMNE)
For the investment properties under Level 3 recurring fair value HREEMEZ AT EB=ZREEEAF
measurement, a reconciliation of the opening and closing fair value BEitE  FYIHEFRATFEHBZHED
balances is provided below. Te
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Opening balance (Level 3 recurring fair value) FNRECREEERTE) 87,933 78,099
Exchange adjustments T 5, 5 2 (6,305) 2,099
Fair value change NI EZE (6,238) (1,656)
Addition NE 1,762 -
Disposals & (2,541) (1,709)
Transfer from property, plant and equipment EEYE - RERERERE14)

(note 14) - 11,100
Closing balance (Level 3 recurring fair value) FERHBE(CEHEEHEAFE) 74,611 87,933
Information about Level 2 fair value measurement — Property FRA-RAFEFEZEN -RFENY
unit in the PRC HEY
For the investment property of which the tenancy agreement has HRHAERZRD BRI EE R IEERER
expired and which was held for capital appreciation, it was valued B RAERLEZEMISABRE
by applying direct comparison approach without any significant BARIEEMERARNBER TETHE
adjustment being made to the market observable data. The fair value ARTENENBAE_H -

measurement was classified as Level 2.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best REFTIEZATER  BEMEZES
use of the properties is their current use. REERZAHERTAE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2 —Z - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF

THE COMPANY

Details of the principal subsidiaries directly/indirectly held by the

16 ARBEEMBLARZFHE

AARRBERREE THEFENIE

|

Company at the end of the reporting period are set out below: MEBARFBAT
Place of Paid-up
incorporation/ capital/ Effective
registration/ issued equity interest
Name of subsidiary operations share capital held by the Company Principal activities
a2 BHRER
MEDRERE e BRITRA ARESAzERERZ TEEK
2022 2021
B E T F
% %
Directly held:
EERE:
Galactic Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100 100  Investment holding
FAIRE BB QA B8 2T REER
Indirectly held:
MRS
Chengtong Trading (International) Hong Kong HK$429 100 100  Finance leasing
Limited
HEE S ER)BRAA N B 4297T MEME
Chengtong World Trade Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 51 51 Bulk commodity trade
At ER AR B 751%10,000,0007T ATREME S
Zhucheng Phoenix Landmark The PRC RMB50,000,000 100 100  Property development
Company Limited™ and investment
HMERE B R A ] AR#50,000,0007T MEERERIRE
Chengtong Financial Leasing The PRC RMB2,000,000,000 100 100  Finance leasing and
Company Limited™ operating leasing
HBREEERRAA H AR #2,000,000,0007T MEHERKLEHEE
Chengtong Development Trading The PRC RMB100,000,000 100 100 Bulk commodity trade
Company Limited™
HBEREHERAA H AR #100,000,0007C RREmES
Hainan Yalong Bay Underwater The PRC RMB96,000,000 100 100  Provision of marine
World Travel Company Limited™ recreation services
BETRESERY R ARA H AR #96,000,0007T RIS EIRERE
Hainan Huandao Underwater World ~ The PRC RMB8,000,000 100 100  Hotel business
Hotel Company Limited™
BEESBRERBEEGRA HE AR %8,000,0007T 5 T
@ A limited liability company established in the PRC —MRFBEK ER AT
A The English names are for identification only A EX AT ERFER

China Chengtong Development Group Limited BB REBAR L 7
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16 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF 16 ARFETEMBAR ZFHBE @

THE COMPANY (Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results of the year or formed a substantial portion of the assets and
liabilities of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of
excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of
the year.

The following table lists out the information relating to Chengtong
World Trade Limited, the subsidiary of the Company which has
non-controlling interests (“NCI”) in the respective years. The
summarised financial information presented below represents the

ERIHEARREERRIBEZELAEH
FRAREIVRAREABDEERAR
ZARRMBATE - ARREEEREIR
TERATIR - LD B AR

15 o

RER TEMNBRABETEMNERE

TRILBEARRMBARBBELESTE
RABNEFREFEIFERERS ([FER
EEDNER - UT2ZHBERBE
RARFTEBEMEHEA < B8R -

amounts before intragroup eliminations.

Chengtong World Trade Limited HBHRERAT
2022 2021
—E-= —==—
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
As at 31 December R+=-—A=+—H
NCI percentage JEERERBE DL 49% 49%
Current assets MENBE 25,864 78,217
Non-current assets JEmBEE 37 52
Current liabilities mEBE (8,922) (63,783)
Non-current liabilities EmBAEE - -
Equity attributable to owners of the Company  ANARIEA ARG 2 